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UNIT I 

DAVID COPPERFIELD  

David Copperfield is the eighth novel by Charles Dickens. The novel's full title is The Personal 

History, Adventures, Experience and Observation of David Copperfield the Younger of 

Blunderstone Rookery (Which He Never Meant to Publish on Any Account It was first 

published as a serial in 1849–50, and as a book in 1850. Many elements of the novel follow 

events in Dickens's own life, and it is often considered his veiled autobiography. It was 

Dickens' favourite among his own novels. In the preface to the 1867 edition, Dickens wrote, 

"like many fond parents, I have in my heart of hearts a favourite child. And his name is David 

Copperfield." Like some of his other novels, it contains disturbing descriptions of child abuse. 

 

The story follows the life of David Copperfield from childhood to maturity. David was born in 

Blunderstone, Suffolk, England, six months after the death of his father. David spends his early 

years in relative happiness with his loving, childish mother and their kindly housekeeper, 

Peggotty. When he is seven years old his mother marries Edward Murdstone. During the 

marriage, partly to get him out of the way and partly because he strongly objects to the whole 

proceeding, David is sent to lodge with Peggotty's family in Yarmouth. Her brother, fisherman 

Mr. Peggotty, lives in a house built in an upturned boat on the beach, with his adopted relatives 

Emily and Ham, and an elderly widow, Mrs. Gummidge. "Little Em'ly" is somewhat spoilt by 

her fond foster father, and David is in love with her. On his return, David is given good reason 

to dislike his stepfather and has similar feelings for Murdstone's sister Jane, who moves into 

the house soon afterwards. Between them they tyrannise his poor mother, making her and 

David's lives miserable, and when, in consequence, David falls behind in his studies, 

Murdstone attempts to thrash him – partly to further pain his mother. David bites him and soon 

afterwards is sent away to a boarding school, Salem House, under a ruthless headmaster, Mr. 

Creakle. There he befriends an older boy, James Steerforth, and Tommy Traddles. He develops 

an impassioned admiration for Steerforth, perceiving him as something noble, who could do 

great things if he would. 

David goes home for the holidays to learn that his mother has given birth to a baby boy. Shortly 

after David returns to Salem House, his mother and her baby die, and David returns home 



immediately. Peggotty marries the local carrier, Mr. Barkis. Murdstone sends David to work 

for a wine merchant in London – a business of which Murdstone is a joint owner.[note 2] 

David's landlord, Wilkins Micawber, is arrested for debt and sent to the King's Bench Prison, 

where he remains for several months, before being released and moving to Plymouth. No one 

remains to care for David in London, so he decides to run away. 

He walks from London to Dover, to his only relative, his eccentric yet kind-hearted great-aunt 

Betsey Trotwood. She had come to Blunderstone at his birth, only to depart in ire upon learning 

that he was not a girl. However, she takes pity on him and agrees to raise him, despite 

Murdstone's attempt to regain custody of David, on condition that he always tries to 'be as like 

his sister, Betsey Trotwood' as he can be, meaning that he is to endeavour to emulate the 

prospective namesake she was disappointed of. David's great-aunt renames him "Trotwood 

Copperfield" and addresses him as "Trot", and it becomes one of several names which David 

is called by in the course of the novel. 

David's aunt sends him to a far better school than the last he attended. It is run by Dr. Strong, 

whose methods inculcate honour and self-reliance in his pupils. During term, David lodges 

with the lawyer Mr. Wickfield, and his daughter Agnes, who becomes David's friend and 

confidante. Wickfield has a secretary, the 15-year-old Uriah Heep. 

By devious means, Uriah Heep gradually gains a complete ascendancy over the aging and 

alcoholic Wickfield, to Agnes's great sorrow. Heep hopes, and maliciously confides to David, 

that he aspires to marry Agnes. Ultimately with the aid of Micawber, who has been employed 

by Heep as a secretary, his fraudulent behaviour is revealed. At the end of the book, David 

meets him in a prison, for attempting to defraud the Bank of England. 

After completing school, David learns to be a proctor. During this time, due to Heep's 

fraudulent activities, his aunt's fortune has gone down. David begins to struggle for his life. He 

joins in employment under his former teacher Doctor Strong, as a secretary and also starts to 

learn shorthand, with the help of his former school-friend Traddles. Upon learning shorthand, 

he joins in a newspaper for parliamentary debate reporting. With considerable help from Agnes 

and his own great diligence, hard work and discipline, David ultimately finds fame and fortune 

as an author, by writing fiction. 

David's romantic but self-serving school friend, Steerforth, seduces and dishonours Emily, 

offering to marry her off to one of his servants before finally deserting her. Her uncle Mr. 

Peggotty manages to find her with the help of London prostitute Martha, who had grown up in 



their county. Ham, who had been engaged to marry her before the tragedy, died in a storm off 

the coast in attempting to succour a ship; Steerforth was aboard the same and also died. Mr. 

Peggotty takes Emily to a new life in Australia, accompanied by Mrs. Gummidge and the 

Micawbers, where all eventually find security and happiness. 

David marries the beautiful but naïve Dora Spenlow, but their marriage proves unhappy for 

David. Dora dies early in their marriage. After Dora's death, Agnes encourages David to return 

to normal life and his profession of writing. While living in Switzerland, David realises that he 

loves Agnes. Upon returning to England, after a failed attempt to conceal his feelings, David 

finds that Agnes loves him too. They quickly marry and in this marriage, he finds true 

happiness. David and Agnes then have at least five children, including a daughter named after 

his great-aunt, Betsey Trotwood. 

• David Copperfield – The narrator and protagonist of this veiled autobiography, created 

on the image of the author himself. He is characterised in the book as having perseverance, but 

also an undisciplined heart, which is an important point of the latter part of the book. After 

being adopted by his aunt Betsey Trotwood, he is called "Trotwood Copperfield" in deference 

to her wishes. Throughout the novel he goes by multiple names: the Peggotty family address 

him as "Davy", James Steerforth nicknames him "Daisy", Dora calls him "Doady", the 

Micawbers mostly address him by his last name, and his aunt and her circle refer to him as 

"Trot". 

• Clara Copperfield – David's kind mother, described as being innocently childish, who 

dies while David is at Salem House. She dies just after the birth of her second child (a son, 

Edward Murdstone junior, born to her second husband), who dies around the same time. 

• Clara Peggotty – The faithful servant of the Copperfield family and a lifelong 

companion to David (she is called by her surname Peggotty within David's family, as her given 

name is Clara, the same as David's mother; she is also referred to at times as Barkis after her 

marriage to Mr. Barkis). When Mr. Barkis dies, she inherits a substantial portion of his estate, 

valued at £3,000 – a large sum in the mid-19th century (he also leaves modest annuities for 

David, Mr. Daniel Peggotty, and Little Emily). After her husband's death, Peggotty helps to 

put in order David's rooms in London and then returns to Yarmouth to keep house for her 

nephew, Ham Peggotty. Following Ham's death, she keeps house for David's aunt, Betsey 

Trotwood. 



• Betsey Trotwood – David's eccentric and temperamental yet kind-hearted great-aunt; 

she becomes his guardian after he runs away from Grinby and Murdstone's warehouse in 

Blackfriars (London). She is present on the night of David's birth but leaves after hearing that 

Clara Copperfield's child is a boy instead of a girl, and is not seen until David is older and flees 

to her house in Dover from London. She is portrayed as affectionate towards David, and 

defends him and his late mother when Mr. Murdstone arrives to take custody of David: she 

confronts the man and rebukes him for his abuse of David and his mother, then threatens him 

and drives him off the premises. Universally believed to be a widow, she conceals the existence 

of her ne'er-do-well husband who constantly bleeds her for money. 

• Mr. Chillip – A shy, elderly doctor who assists at David's birth and faces the wrath and 

anger of Betsey Trotwood after he informs her that Clara's baby is a boy instead of a girl. 

• Mr. Barkis – An aloof carter who declares his intention to marry Peggotty. He says to 

David: "Tell her, 'Barkis is willin'!' Just so." He is a bit of a miser, and hides his surprisingly 

vast liquid wealth in a plain box labelled "Old Clothes". He bequeaths to his wife and her family 

(including David) the then astronomical sum of £3,000 when he dies about ten years later.  

• Edward Murdstone – The main antagonist of the first half of the novel, he is Young 

David's cruel stepfather who beats him for falling behind in his studies. David reacts by biting 

Mr. Murdstone, who then sends him to Salem House, the private school owned by his friend 

Mr. Creakle. After David's mother dies, Mr. Murdstone sends him to work in his factory in 

London, where he has to clean wine bottles. He appears at Betsey Trotwood's house after David 

runs away. Mr. Murdstone appears to show signs of repentance when confronted by 

Copperfield's aunt about his treatment of Clara and David, but later in the book, we hear he has 

married another young woman and applied his old principles of "firmness". 

• Jane Murdstone – Mr. Murdstone's equally cruel spinster sister, who moves into the 

Copperfield house shortly after Mr. Murdstone marries Clara Copperfield. She is the 

"Confidential Friend" of David's first wife, Dora Spenlow, and encourages many of the 

problems that occur between David Copperfield and Dora's father, Mr. Spenlow. Later, she 

rejoins her brother and his new wife in a relationship very much like the one they had with 

David's mother. 

• Daniel Peggotty – Peggotty's brother; a humble but generous Yarmouth fisherman who 

takes his nephew Ham and niece Emily into his custody after each of them has been orphaned, 

and welcomes David as a child when he holidays to Yarmouth with Peggotty. When Emily is 



older and runs away with David's friend Steerforth, he travels around the world in search of 

her. He eventually finds her in London, and after that, they emigrate to Australia. 

• Emily (Little Em'ly) – A niece of Mr. Peggotty. She is a childhood friend of David 

Copperfield, who loved her in his childhood days. On the eve of her wedding to her cousin and 

fiancé, Ham, she abandons him for Steerforth with whom she disappears abroad for several 

years. After Steerforth deserts her, she doesn't go back home, because she has disgraced herself 

and her family. Her uncle, Mr. Peggotty, who has been searching for her since she left home, 

finds her in London (the text implies that she was on the brink of being forced into prostitution). 

So that she may have a fresh start away from her now degraded reputation, she and her uncle 

emigrate to Australia. 

• Ham Peggotty – A good-natured nephew of Mr. Peggotty and the fiancé of Emily before 

she leaves him for Steerforth. He later drowns while attempting to rescue Steerforth (it's not 

clear, however, that he realises that it is Steerforth) from a shipwreck at Yarmouth. News of 

his death is withheld from his family to enable them to emigrate without hesitation or remorse. 

• Mrs. Gummidge – The widow of Daniel Peggotty's partner, who is taken in and 

supported by Daniel after his partner's death. She is a self-described "lone, lorn creetur" who 

spends much of her time pining for "the old 'un" (her late husband). After Emily runs away 

with Steerforth, she suddenly renounces her self-pity and becomes Daniel and Ham's primary 

caretaker. She too emigrates to Australia with Dan and the rest of the surviving family. In 

Australia, when she receives a marriage proposal, she responds by attacking the unlucky suitor 

with a bucket. 

• Martha Endell – A young woman, once Little Emily's friend, who later gains a bad 

reputation; it is implied that she engages in some sexually inappropriate behaviour and is thus 

disgraced. In the later chapters of the novel, she redeems herself by helping Daniel Peggotty 

find his niece after she returns to London. She has been a prostitute and contemplated suicide, 

but goes with Emily to start a new life in Australia. There, she marries and lives happily. 

• Mr. Creakle – The harsh dictatorial headmaster of young David's boarding school who 

is assisted by the one-legged Tungay. Mr. Creakle is a friend of Mr. Murdstone. He singles out 

David for extra torment on Murdstone's request, but later treats him normally when David 

apologises to Murdstone. With a surprising amount of delicacy, he breaks the news to David 

that his mother has died. Later, he becomes a Middlesex magistrate and is considered 

'enlightened' for his day. He runs his prison by the system and is portrayed with great sarcasm. 



Creakle's two model inmates, Heep and Littimer, show no change from their former scheming 

selves but have completely fooled Creakle into believing their repentance. 

• James Steerforth – A close friend of David who has known him since his first days at 

Salem House, he is a charismatic and outspoken hero of the younger boys, but he is also a snob 

who unhesitatingly takes advantage of his younger friends and uses his mother's power to get 

what he wants, going so far as to get Mr. Mell dismissed from the school after he argues with 

him. Although he grows up into a well-liked and handsome young man, he proves to be lacking 

in character when he seduces and later abandons Little Em'ly. He eventually drowns at 

Yarmouth with Ham Peggotty, who had been trying to rescue him. 

• Tommy Traddles – David's friend from Salem House. Traddles is one of the few boys 

who do not trust Steerforth and is notable for drawing skeletons on his slate to cheer himself 

up with the macabre thought that his predicaments are only temporary. They meet again later 

and eventually become lifelong friends. Traddles works hard but faces great obstacles because 

of his lack of money and connections. He eventually succeeds in making a name and a career 

for himself, becoming a Judge and marrying his true love, Sophy. 

• Wilkins Micawber – A melodramatic, kind-hearted and foolish gentleman who 

befriends David as a young boy. He suffers from much financial difficulty and even has to 

spend time in a debtors' prison before moving to Plymouth. As an adult, Copperfield meets him 

again in London and gets him a job with Wickfield and Heep. Thinking Micawber is 

criminally-minded, Heep forces him to be his accomplice in several of his schemes, but 

Micawber eventually turns the tables on his employer and is instrumental in his downfall. 

Micawber eventually emigrates to Australia, where he enjoys a successful career as a sheep 

farmer and becomes a magistrate. He is based on Dickens's father, John Dickens, who faced 

similar financial problems when Dickens was a child. 

•  The narrator and protagonist of this veiled autobiography, created on the image of the 

author himself. He is characterised in the book as having perseverance, but also an 

undisciplined heart, which is an important point of the latter part of the book. After being 

adopted by his aunt Betsey Trotwood, he is called "Trotwood Copperfield" in deference to her 

wishes. Throughout the novel he goes by multiple names: the Peggotty family address him as 

"Davy", James Steerforth nicknames him "Daisy", Dora calls him "Doady", the Micawbers 

mostly address him by his last name, and his aunt and her circle refer to him as "Trot". 



• Clara Copperfield – David's kind mother, described as being innocently childish, who 

dies while David is at Salem House. She dies just after the birth of her second child (a son, 

Edward Murdstone junior, born to her second husband), who dies around the same time. 

• Clara Peggotty – The faithful servant of the Copperfield family and a lifelong 

companion to David (she is called by her surname Peggotty within David's family, as her given 

name is Clara, the same as David's mother; she is also referred to at times as Barkis after her 

marriage to Mr. Barkis). When Mr. Barkis dies, she inherits a substantial portion of his estate, 

valued at £3,000 – a large sum in the mid-19th century (he also leaves modest annuities for 

David, Mr. Daniel Peggotty, and Little Emily). After her husband's death, Peggotty helps to 

put in order David's rooms in London and then returns to Yarmouth to keep house for her 

nephew, Ham Peggotty. Following Ham's death, she keeps house for David's aunt, Betsey 

Trotwood. 

• Betsey Trotwood – David's eccentric and temperamental yet kind-hearted great-aunt; 

she becomes his guardian after he runs away from Grinby and Murdstone's warehouse in 

Blackfriars (London). She is present on the night of David's birth but leaves after hearing that 

Clara Copperfield's child is a boy instead of a girl, and is not seen until David is older and flees 

to her house in Dover from London. She is portrayed as affectionate towards David, and 

defends him and his late mother when Mr. Murdstone arrives to take custody of David: she 

confronts the man and rebukes him for his abuse of David and his mother, then threatens him 

and drives him off the premises. Universally believed to be a widow, she conceals the existence 

of her ne'er-do-well husband who constantly bleeds her for money. 

• Mr. Chillip – A shy, elderly doctor who assists at David's birth and faces the wrath and 

anger of Betsey Trotwood after he informs her that Clara's baby is a boy instead of a girl.  

• Mr. Barkis – An aloof carter who declares his intention to marry Peggotty. He says to 

David: "Tell her, 'Barkis is willin'!' Just so." He is a bit of a miser, and hides his surprisingly 

vast liquid wealth in a plain box labelled "Old Clothes". He bequeaths to his wife and her family 

(including David) the then astronomical sum of £3,000 when he dies about ten years later.  

• Edward Murdstone – The main antagonist of the first half of the novel, he is Young 

David's cruel stepfather who beats him for falling behind in his studies. David reacts by biting 

Mr. Murdstone, who then sends him to Salem House, the private school owned by his friend 

Mr. Creakle. After David's mother dies, Mr. Murdstone sends him to work in his factory in 

London, where he has to clean wine bottles. He appears at Betsey Trotwood's house after David 



runs away. Mr. Murdstone appears to show signs of repentance when confronted by 

Copperfield's aunt about his treatment of Clara and David, but later in the book, we hear he has 

married another young woman and applied his old principles of "firmness". 

• Jane Murdstone – Mr. Murdstone's equally cruel spinster sister, who moves into the 

Copperfield house shortly after Mr. Murdstone marries Clara Copperfield. She is the 

"Confidential Friend" of David's first wife, Dora Spenlow, and encourages many of the 

problems that occur between David Copperfield and Dora's father, Mr. Spenlow. Later, she 

rejoins her brother and his new wife in a relationship very much like the one they had with 

David's mother. 

• Daniel Peggotty – Peggotty's brother; a humble but generous Yarmouth fisherman who 

takes his nephew Ham and niece Emily into his custody after each of them has been orphaned, 

and welcomes David as a child when he holidays to Yarmouth with Peggotty. When Emily is 

older and runs away with David's friend Steerforth, he travels around the world in search of 

her. He eventually finds her in London, and after that, they emigrate to Australia. 

• Emily (Little Em'ly) – A niece of Mr. Peggotty. She is a childhood friend of David 

Copperfield, who loved her in his childhood days. On the eve of her wedding to her cousin and 

fiancé, Ham, she abandons him for Steerforth with whom she disappears abroad for several 

years. After Steerforth deserts her, she doesn't go back home, because she has disgraced herself 

and her family. Her uncle, Mr. Peggotty, who has been searching for her since she left home, 

finds her in London (the text implies that she was on the brink of being forced into prostitution). 

So that she may have a fresh start away from her now degraded reputation, she and her uncle 

emigrate to Australia. 

• Ham Peggotty – A good-natured nephew of Mr. Peggotty and the fiancé of Emily before 

she leaves him for Steerforth. He later drowns while attempting to rescue Steerforth (it's not 

clear, however, that he realises that it is Steerforth) from a shipwreck at Yarmouth. News of 

his death is withheld from his family to enable them to emigrate without hesitation or remorse. 

• Mrs. Gummidge – The widow of Daniel Peggotty's partner, who is taken in and 

supported by Daniel after his partner's death. She is a self-described "lone, lorn creetur" who 

spends much of her time pining for "the old 'un" (her late husband). After Emily runs away 

with Steerforth, she suddenly renounces her self-pity and becomes Daniel and Ham's primary 

caretaker. She too emigrates to Australia with Dan and the rest of the surviving family. In 



Australia, when she receives a marriage proposal, she responds by attacking the unlucky suitor 

with a bucket. 

• Martha Endell – A young woman, once Little Emily's friend, who later gains a bad 

reputation; it is implied that she engages in some sexually inappropriate behaviour and is thus 

disgraced. In the later chapters of the novel, she redeems herself by helping Daniel Peggotty 

find his niece after she returns to London. She has been a prostitute and contemplated suicide, 

but goes with Emily to start a new life in Australia. There, she marries and lives happily. 

• Mr. Creakle – The harsh dictatorial headmaster of young David's boarding school who 

is assisted by the one-legged Tungay. Mr. Creakle is a friend of Mr. Murdstone. He singles out 

David for extra torment on Murdstone's request, but later treats him normally when David 

apologises to Murdstone. With a surprising amount of delicacy, he breaks the news to David 

that his mother has died. Later, he becomes a Middlesex magistrate and is considered 

'enlightened' for his day. He runs his prison by the system and is portrayed with great sarcasm. 

Creakle's two model inmates, Heep and Littimer, show no change from their former sche 

•  A close friend of David who has known him since his first days at Salem House, he is 

a charismatic and outspoken hero of the younger boys, but he is also a snob who unhesitatingly 

takes advantage of his younger friends and uses his mother's power to get what he wants, going 

so far as to get Mr. Mell dismissed from the school after he argues with him. Although he 

grows up into a well-liked and handsome young man, he proves to be lacking in character when 

he seduces and later abandons Little Em'ly. He eventually drowns at Yarmouth with Ham 

Peggotty, who had been trying to rescue him. 

• Tommy Traddles – David's friend from Salem House. Traddles is one of the few boys 

who do not trust Steerforth and is notable for drawing skeletons on his slate to cheer himself 

up with the macabre thought that his predicaments are only temporary. They meet again later 

and eventually become lifelong friends. Traddles works hard but faces great obstacles because 

of his lack of money and connections. He eventually succeeds in making a name and a career 

for himself, becoming a Judge and marrying his true love, Sophy. 

• Wilkins Micawber – A melodramatic, kind-hearted and foolish gentleman who 

befriends David as a young boy. He suffers from much financial difficulty and even has to 

spend time in a debtors' prison before moving to Plymouth. As an adult, Copperfield meets him 

again in London and gets him a job with Wickfield and Heep. Thinking Micawber is 

criminally-minded, Heep forces him to be his accomplice in several of his schemes, but 



Micawber eventually turns the tables on his employer and is instrumental in his downfall. 

Micawber eventually emigrates to Australia, where he enjoys a successful career as a sheep 

farmer and becomes a magistrate. He is based on Dickens's father, John Dickens, who faced 

similar financial problems when Dickens was a child. 

• Emma Micawber – Wilkins Micawber's wife and the mother of their children. She 

comes from a moneyed family who disapprove of her husband, but she constantly protests that 

she will "never leave Micawber!" 

• Mr. Dick (Richard Babley) – A slightly deranged, rather childish but amiable man who 

lives with Betsey Trotwood; they are distant relatives. His madness is amply described; he 

claims to have the "trouble" of King Charles I in his head. He is fond of making gigantic kites 

and is constantly writing a "Memorial" but is unable to finish it. Despite his madness, Dick is 

able to see issues with a certain clarity. He proves to be not only a kind and loyal friend but 

also demonstrates a keen emotional intelligence, particularly when he helps Dr. and Mrs. 

Strong through a marriage crisis. 

• Mr. Wickfield – The widowed father of Agnes Wickfield and lawyer to Betsey 

Trotwood. He feels guilty that, through his love, he has hurt his daughter by keeping her too 

close to himself. This sense of guilt occasionally leads him to drink. His apprentice Uriah Heep 

learns of this from David and uses the information to lead Mr. Wickfield down a slippery slope, 

encouraging the alcoholism and feelings of guilt, and eventually convincing him that he has 

committed improprieties while inebriated, and blackmailing him. He is saved by Mr. 

Micawber, and his friends consider him to have become a better man through the experience.  

• Agnes Wickfield – Mr. Wickfield's mature and lovely daughter and close friend of 

David since childhood. Agnes nurtures an unrequited love for David for many years but never 

tells him, helping and advising him through his infatuation with, and marriage to, Dora. After 

David returns to England, he realises his feelings for her, and she becomes David's second wife 

and mother of their children. It is believed by many scholars that this character was based on 

Dickens' sisters-in-law Mary and Georgina Hogarth. She has often been blasted by critics for 

her seeming lack of characterization (David often refers to her as an "Angel" and rarely moves 

beyond that description except to associate her with a "stained-glass window") but more recent 

research has been more favourable to her. She does, in fact, show the effects of being a 

parentified child, which helps explain her selflessness and seeming "perfection".[4]  



• Uriah Heep – The main antagonist of the novel's second half, Heep is a disturbing young 

man who serves first as secretary, and then as partner to Mr. Wickfield. The archetypal 

hypocrite, he appears to be extremely self-deprecating and talks constantly of being "umble", 

but gradually reveals his wicked and twisted character. He gains great power over Wickfield 

and several others but is finally exposed by Wilkins Micawber, who has gathered evidence that 

Uriah committed multiple acts of fraud. By forging Mr. Wickfield's signature, he has 

misappropriated the personal wealth of the Wickfield family, together with portfolios entrusted 

to them by others, including £5000 belonging to Betsey Trotwood. He has fooled Wickfield 

into thinking he has himself committed this act while drunk, and then blackmailed him. Heep 

is eventually forced to return the forged documents and stolen capital; he is thus defeated but 

not prosecuted. He is later imprisoned for an (unrelated) attempted fraud on the Bank of 

England. He nurtures a deep hatred of David Copperfield and of many others. 

• Mrs. Heep – Uriah's mother, who is as sycophantic as her son. She has installed in him 

his lifelong tactic of pretending to be subservient to achieve his goals, and even as his schemes 

fall apart she begs him to save himself by "being 'humble." 

• Dr. Strong – The headmaster of David's Canterbury school, whom he visits on various 

occasions. He is many years older than his wife, and Heep exploits this insecurity to gain power 

over him. 

• Anne (Annie) Strong – The young wife of Dr. Strong. She is widely suspected of having 

an affair with Jack Maldon – only her husband suspects nothing of either of them and, when 

finally convinced by his friends of the threat represented by Maldon, still refuses to believe that 

his wife has succumbed to seduction. It emerges that Dr. Strong's trust in his wife is justified: 

she has remained entirely faithful. 

• Jack Maldon – A cousin and childhood sweetheart of Anne Strong. He continues to 

bear affection for her and tries to seduce her into leaving Dr. Strong. He is charming but fairly 

dissolute. 

• Mrs. Markleham- Annie's mother, nicknamed "The Old Soldier" by her husband's 

students for her stubbornness. She tries to take pecuniary advantage of her son-in-law Dr. 

Strong in every way possible, to Annie's sorrow. 

• Mrs. Steerforth – The wealthy widowed mother of James Steerforth. She dotes on her 

son to the point of being completely blind to his faults. When Steerforth disgraces his family 



and the Peggottys by running off with Em'ly, Mrs. Steerforth blames Em'ly for corrupting her 

son, rather than accept that James has disgraced an innocent girl. The news of her son's death 

destroys her and she never recovers from the shock. 

• Rosa Dartle – Steerforth's cousin, a bitter, sarcastic spinster who lives with Mrs. 

Steerforth. She is secretly in love with Steerforth and blames others such as Emily and 

Steerforth's mother for corrupting him. She is described as being extremely skinny and displays 

a visible scar on her lip caused by Steerforth in one of his violent rages as a child. 

• Francis Spenlow – A lawyer, employer of David as a proctor and the father of Dora 

Spenlow. He dies suddenly of a heart attack while driving his phaeton home. After his death, 

it is revealed that he is heavily in debt. 

• Dora Spenlow – The adorable but foolish daughter of Mr. Spenlow who becomes 

David's first wife. She is described as being completely impractical and has many similarities 

to David's mother. David's first year of marriage to her is unhappy due to her ineptitude in 

managing their household, but after he learns to accept this failing, they grow to be quite happy. 

Dora is simple, easily provoked to tears and laughter, and childishly fond of her annoying 

lapdog, Jip. She is not unaware of her failings, and asks David, whom she calls "Doady", to 

think of her as a "child wife". She suffers a miscarriage, and the experience sends her into a 

long illness from which she peacefully dies with Agnes Wickfield at her side. 

• Littimer – Steerforth's obsequious valet, who is instrumental in aiding his seduction of 

Emily. Littimer is always polite and correct but his condescending manner intimidates and 

infuriates David, who always feels as if Littimer is reminding him how young he is. He later 

winds up in prison for embezzlement, and his manners allow him to con his way to the stature 

of Model Prisoner in Creakle's establishment. 

• Miss Mowcher – a dwarf and Steerforth's hairdresser. Though she participates in 

Steerforth's circle as a witty and glib gossip, she deeply feels the shame associated with her 

dwarfism but it leaves her few other career options. She is later instrumental in Littimer's arrest. 

• Mr. Mell – A poor teacher at Salem House. He takes David to Salem House and is the 

only adult there who is kind to him. His mother lives in a workhouse, and Mell supports her 

with his wages. When Steerforth discovers this information from David, he uses it to get 

Creakle to fire Mell. Near the end of the novel, Copperfield discovers in an Australian 



newspaper that Mell has emigrated and is now Doctor Mell of Colonial Salem-House Grammar 

School, Port Middlebay. 

• Sophy Crewler – One of the daughters of a large family, Sophy runs the household and 

takes care of her younger sisters. She and Traddles are engaged to be married, but her family 

has made Sophy so indispensable that they are resentful when Traddles offers to take her away. 

The pair do eventually marry and settle down happily, and Sophy proves to be an invaluable 

aid in Traddles's legal career. 

• Mr. Sharp – The chief teacher of Salem House, he has more authority than Mr. Mell. 

He looks weak, both in health and character; his head seems to be very heavy for him; he walks 

on one side, and has a big nose. 

• Mr. Jorkins – The rarely seen partner of Mr. Spenlow. Spenlow uses him as a scapegoat 

for any unpopular decision he chooses to make, painting Jorkins as an inflexible tyrant, but 

Jorkins is, in fact, a meek and timid nonentity who, when confronted, takes the same tack by 

blaming his inability to act on Mr. Spenlow. 

INTRODUCTION 

David Copperfield, Charles Dickens's eighth novel, came out in monthly magazine installments 

from May 1849 to November 1850. By the time this novel started to appear, Dickens had 

already published some of his most famous works, including The Pickwick Papers (1837), 

Oliver Twist (1839), Nicholas Nickleby (1839), and A Christmas Carol (1843). Dickens's 

fiction appeared regularly in the popular journals of the day, including Bentley's Miscellany 

and his own periodical, Household Words (which ran from 1850 to 1859). By 1850, at the age 

of 38, Dickens had established himself as a genuine literary celebrity (perhaps along the lines 

of today's J.K. Rowling).  

 

Indeed, like J.K. Rowling, Dickens's main claim to fame is twofold: first, he writes enduring 

characters that everybody remembers – and we hope that, after exploring David Copperfield 

with us, you'll see why no one can forget Uriah Heep, even if you might want to. And second, 

Dickens is great at mixing humor with serious questions about social justice. For Rowling, that 

social conscience mostly deals with larger issues of right and wrong: how can we recognize 

and fight evil without becoming Dolores Umbridge? For Dickens, he depicts more specific 

injustices: cruelty to children, the mistreatment of women, and urban poverty and debt. Despite 



huge differences in setting, what the worlds of Harry Potter and David Copperfield share in 

common is a light touch with all of these heavy issues, which keeps us entertained even while 

provoking us to think.  

So, anyway, let's get back to David Copperfield. Let us suppose that it's 1849, you're Charles 

Dickens, and everybody likes you. People are mobbing you for your autograph, you've made a 

fair amount of money, and everything seems to be coming up roses. What do you do next? 

Well, naturally, you decide to write an autobiography: everyone is so interested in you, so why 

not give them more of what they want? So Dickens starts up his autobiography, which soon 

feeds into the plot of his most personal novel, David Copperfield. Interestingly, though, David 

Copperfield is autobiographical-ish; it differs from Charles Dickens's own life in some key 

ways.  

 

Dickens had a really painful early life. His father was thrown into debtors prison in 1822 in 

London, and young Dickens was sent to work at a blacking factory (where boot polish is bottled 

and labeled for sale) when he was ten years old. In 1824, tiny Dickens was rescued from the 

factory and sent to the Wellington Academy in North London, but the school was abusive, 

impoverished, and awful, and he left in 1826 at the age of 14. Dickens went on to work as a 

law clerk and then journalist, slowly clawing his way to fame and fortune (source: 

"Introduction" to David Copperfield. Edited by E.K. Brown. New York: Random House 

Modern Library College Editions, 1950.) All of these details, in varying order, make it into 

David Copperfield. However, Dickens' actual love life and marriage was quite different from 

what David Copperfield experiences. Dickens divorced his wife, Catherine Hogarth, in 1858. 

 

So, yeah, lots of people call David Copperfield an autobiographical novel, but we have to be 

careful about assuming too much "truth" in this book – the "novel" part is as or more important 

than the "autobiographical" bit. 

There's this boy, a kid from a small town. He's doing his best to grow up in tough 

circumstances: his father dies before he is even born, and his stepfather is a cold, abusive jerk. 

And then it gets worse: the boy's mother dies, leaving the kid completely alone in the world. 

Once his mother is gone, his stepfather doesn't even pretend to care about the kid's fate: he 

sends the boy to the Big City to get a job and fend for himself. Is this a summary of the latest 



Liftetime movie? Or of Precious: The Boy's Version? Nope, it's actually the first ten-odd 

chapters of Charles Dickens's David Copperfield.  

 

Even though this novel was published over 150 years ago, we can't help but be struck by how 

contemporary David Copperfield feels. Sadly, the challenges of abusive parents and terrible 

poverty seem to transcend all ages. Dickens's description of the beating David suffers at the 

hands of his stepfather reaches across the ages to make us shudder, even now. After all, even 

though we are separated from Dickens by a big gap of time, we share the same human emotions 

– love, jealousy, resentment, anger, fear, and hope – that drive the plot of David Copperfield.  

 

We're not going to pretend that there aren't some odd details here and there – like, it's tough to 

take the whole "fallen woman" thing very seriously nowadays. But David's early struggles with 

a broken home, and his later troubles falling out of love with his wife, seem just as familiar to 

us now as they would to Dickens's avid fans back in the day. It's a novel about an individual 

doing his best in bad circumstances. And it doesn't matter if it's 1850 or today: this kind of 

story never gets old. 

SUMMARY 

(By the way, we're doing our best to make this summary brief – which, with a 900-page novel, 

isn't easy – so we can't include every single subplot here; if you want to know more about Miss 

Rosa Dartle, Mrs. Annie Strong, Martha Endell, Julia Mills, or Sophy Crewler, check out our 

character analyses or read our chapter-by-chapter summary.)  

 

David Copperfield's life starts where all of our lives start: birth. He's born on a Friday, at 12:00 

am, in Blunderstone, Suffolk. David comes into the world soon after his mother loses her 

husband, David's father. As a widow with basically no money, Mrs. Copperfield has some hope 

that David's great aunt, Miss Betsey Trotwood, will step in and look after David financially. 

Unfortunately, Miss Betsey (who is about as stubborn and opinionated a character as you'll find 

anywhere in literature) is so disappointed that David is a boy and not a girl that she refuses to 

have anything to do with the family. Mrs. Copperfield is left on her own, with no one but her 

housekeeper, Peggotty, to help her raise David. 



 

When David is around six, Mrs. Copperfield begins seeing Mr. Murdstone. Mr. Murdstone is 

a stern, cruel man who flatters the sweet, young Mrs. Copperfield until she agrees to marry 

him. Once Mrs. Copperfield finally marries Mr. Murdstone, he and his sister Jane both move 

into Mrs. Copperfield's house (which used to belong to David's father). Together, the two of 

them bully Mrs. Copperfield until she becomes too afraid to say anything to protest the 

Murdstones' verbal and physical abuse of David. One night, Mr. Murdstone whips David with 

a switch. In a blind panic, David bites Mr. Murdstone's hand. Mr. Murdstone uses this bite as 

an excuse to send David away to a boarding school called Salem House, run by Mr. Creakle. 

Before David goes away to school, he is allowed to visit the hometown of his mother's 

housekeeper, Peggotty. Peggotty is from the coastal village of Yarmouth. Her brother is still a 

fisherman there. He owns a boat that he has converted to a house on shore. Mr. Peggotty's boat 

house shelters three needy people: two orphans, Ham and Emily, and Mrs. Gummidge, the 

widow of his former business partner. Mr. Peggotty is a generous man, and David loves the 

two weeks he spends at Yarmouth. He also gets a giant crush on little Emily, who is a pretty 

and kind-hearted child.  

 

Once David arrives at his new school, Salem House, he finds that the headmaster, Mr. Creakle, 

has been warned that David is a bad kid. Mr. Creakle makes it his personal duty in life to beat 

David (and all of the other boys at Salem House) as often as possible. The only good thing 

about David's life at school is David's new hero, James Steerforth, a handsome and 

accomplished boy who manages to charm everyone, including Mr. Creakle.  

 

David spends two terms at Salem House learning what he can and trying to avoid being beaten 

by Mr. Creakle. He makes friends not only with Steerforth, but also with Tommy Traddles, a 

good-natured boy who likes to draw skeletons whenever he gets upset. But one day, David 

hears terrible news from home: his mother and his baby brother have both died. David is 

completely torn apart, and rushes back to Suffolk for the funeral.  

 



Mr. Murdstone is experiencing financial troubles and no longer wants to bother with his 

unloved stepson. Mr. Murdstone decides to send David into London to work at his wine bottling 

factory (when David is only ten years old!). David goes to work in London without any family 

to protect him. 

 

Fortunately, David winds up making true friends out of his new landlords, the Micawbers. Mr. 

Micawber and his wife are both on the edge of financial ruin, but they don't let it get their spirits 

down too much. The Micawbers keep looking for new jobs or ventures for Mr. Micawber, but 

nothing ever turns up – so they get deeper and deeper into debt. They each tell David all about 

their marital and money troubles, which makes David think they have forgotten exactly how 

old he is. He enjoys their company very much. He's really disappointed when Mr. Micawber is 

finally arrested and sent to debtors' prison (which is a Victorian thing – for more on debtors' 

prison, check out our detailed summary of Chapter 11).  

 

Now that David's best friends in London are in prison (which they're actually kind of enjoying), 

he decides that the time has come to make a change. David remembers the stories Peggotty 

used to tell him about his great aunt, Miss Betsey Trotwood, so he resolves to run away to find 

her and ask for help. David walks all the way from London to Dover (which is about seventy 

miles away) and turns up one morning at Miss Betsey's doorstep, totally bedraggled, 

sunburned, exhausted, and broke. Miss Betsey takes David in. 

 

Even though Miss Betsey is intimidating and stern, she is also quite charitable: in addition to 

David, she has also adopted an older man named Mr. Dick. Mr. Dick is a decent guy who 

happens to be mentally ill; he was quite mistreated by his brother before Miss Betsey took him 

in.  

 

David settles in happily with Miss Betsey and Mr. Dick. Eventually, Mr. Murdstone tracks 

David down, but Miss Betsey sends him and his awful sister away without too much trouble. 

Miss Betsey makes David her ward and sends him to a much better school in the nearby town 

of Canterbury.  



 

In Canterbury, David rents a room with Miss Betsey's business manager, Mr. Wickfield. Mr. 

Wickfield has a lovely daughter named Agnes, who is about David's age. Agnes keeps house 

for Mr. Wickfield and David. Mr. Wickfield also has an extremely creepy clerk, Uriah Heep, 

who comes to work for him during the day and then goes home at night to his mother. Uriah 

Heep keeps telling everyone that he's very humble, but David suspects that he's an evil 

hypocrite.  

 

Eventually, David finishes his studies with Doctor Strong and has to figure out what to do next. 

Before deciding on a career, he goes to visit his old nurse, Peggotty, in Yarmouth. On his way 

to Yarmouth, David stops at an inn in London, where he happens to run into his Salem House 

school friend, Steerforth. Steerforth is studying at Oxford and is currently on vacation.  

 

David and Steerforth decide to visit Yarmouth together. Steerforth seems charmed by the 

picturesque boat house and its rustic inhabitants (even though, in private, he gets a bit  

condescending about the Peggotty family's poverty). During their stay, David is glad to see 

Ham Peggotty and Emily announce their engagement; Mr. Peggotty could not be more proud 

of these two orphans he has brought into his home. Steerforth is so delighted by Yarmouth and 

its inhabitants that he decides to buy a boat and hang out there from time to time. 

 

David returns to his aunt's house in Dover. He and Miss Betsey decide that David should 

become an apprentice in a proctor's office. (A proctor is a specific kind of lawyer in the British 

legal system, who deals with stuff like contracts, wills, and marriage licenses.) So, David 

moves to London, finds an apartment, and starts working at the law office of Spenlow and 

Jorkins.  

David continues his friendship with Steerforth and also meets up with another familiar face 

from Salem House, Tommy Traddles, who is a lawyer struggling to make ends meet. Oddly 

enough, Tommy Traddles happens to be renting his rooms from another familiar face: Mr. 

Micawber! The Micawbers are just the same, always going from the heights of happiness to 



the depths of despair, always worrying about money, always running up debts, and always 

living well in spite of their troubles.  

 

David has now hit the ripe age of 17 and has fallen in love. The lady's name is Dora Spenlow, 

and she is the daughter of his boss. Dora is a childlike, naive girl who loves to be flattered by 

David, but cannot bear to think of serious matters like housekeeping or household accounts. 

David is so charmed by her innocence that he doesn't mind that Dora hasn't got a practical bone 

in her body.  

 

Ham Peggotty and Emily have been engaged for some time now. Ham Peggotty clearly dotes 

over Emily. But Emily was very impressed with Steerforth when he came to visit Yarmouth 

with David. It turns out that, while David has been in London, Steerforth and his servant, 

Littimer, have been hanging around Yarmouth trying to convince Emily to run away with them. 

Finally, Emily agrees. She deserts her fiancé and run away – unmarried, which is a hugely big 

deal in 1850 England – with Steerforth. Ham Peggotty is heartbroken.  

    

Mr. Peggotty hears that Emily has disappeared and resolves to roam the earth for as long as it 

takes to find his beloved little girl. David goes back to the Steerforth house to tell Mrs. 

Steerforth what her son has done, and that Steerforth has ruined the reputation of a good 

woman. Mrs. Steerforth is furious at Emily for seducing her son, and David leaves her house 

unsatisfied and angry.  

 

Speaking of ruined lives, there are two major earthquakes in David's London life at this point. 

They both revolve around Mr. Wickfield, Miss Betsey's business manager and David's old 

landlord from his school days in Canterbury. First, David happens to bump in to Uriah Heep, 

Mr. Wickfield's clerk, when he, Mr. Wickfield, and Agnes are all visiting London. David 

discovers that Uriah has come up in the world: he has become Mr. Wickfield's partner in the 

business. But this partnership is not a just reward for hard work, oh no. Uriah Heep has gotten 

it thanks to extortion and blackmail.  

 



Second, one day, David comes home from work to find Miss Betsey, Mr. Dick, and Peggotty 

sitting in his apartment, surrounded by boxes. Yes, Miss Betsey has been ruined thanks to 

unfortunate stock market investments. And even though Miss Betsey says that these 

investments were all her fault, she is actually covering the misdeeds of Mr. Wickfield, whom 

she pities because she knows that Uriah Heep is encouraging Mr. Wickfield's drinking problem 

and ruining his life. So, the long and short of it is that Miss Betsey is totally out of luck, and 

she's come to ask David to rise to the occasion and support her.  

 

David willingly throws himself into further work: at the advice of Tommy Traddles, he learns 

shorthand and gets a job reporting government debates for the newspapers. He does this in his 

spare time as he continues his contracts work. David also gets another job working for his 

former headmaster, Doctor Strong, who has retired from teaching and now lives in Highgate, 

London. Doctor Strong hires David as a secretary.  

 

Throughout all of these troubles, David continues to pursue Dora Spenlow, who really seems 

to love him. Sadly, her father does not approve, and firmly refuses to allow Dora to marry 

David. Luckily (depending on whose perspective we're talking about here), Mr. Spenlow dies 

suddenly, leaving Dora an orphan in the care of her two aunts. Once Mr. Spenlow dies, 

everyone realizes that he had much less money than everyone thought; Dora is left pretty much 

without a dime. Her two aunts meet with Miss Betsey, decide that David is an honest man, and 

eventually agree to allow their niece to marry David.  

 

Miss Betsey sends David to check on her property in Dover; David uses this visit as an 

opportunity to check in with the Wickfields. Now that Uriah Heep has become Mr. Wickfield's 

full partner, he has hired a new clerk of his own – Mr. Micawber! Mr. Micawber refuses to say 

anything bad about his new employer, Uriah Heep.  

 

David also visits with Agnes, who comforts him about his new poverty. To cap off this horrible 

visit, after dinner, Mr. Wickfield has a mild breakdown about having ruined his daughter's life 



with his own weakness: Mr. Wickfield knows that Uriah Heep wants to marry Agnes, and that 

Agnes is worth a thousand Uriah Heeps.  

 

At this point, David is 21. He and Dora get hitched and set up house together. Miss Betsey and 

Mr. Dick find their own place to live in Highgate, London, near Doctor Strong. David continues 

to work incredibly hard to support his new wife. Things at the law office have really slowed 

down after Mr. Spenlow's death, so David has started to write fiction pieces for magazines. 

David is finding some success, but even though the new couple has some money coming in, 

Dora is such a hopeless housekeeper that their servants often cheat them. Dora begs David to 

remember that she is his "child-wife" (44.101). Even though she is sort of trying to be adult 

about their lives together, she isn't good at acting like a grown-up.  

 

David slowly comes to realize that he and Dora have different outlooks on life, but he continues 

to love her devotedly. She gets pregnant and miscarries. This miscarriage leaves Dora unable 

to walk, so David carries her up and down the stairs everyday so that she can sit in the parlor. 

David worries about how light Dora is getting in his arms. Miss Betsey loves Dora, and comes 

to stay in David's house to nurse her. 

 

Meanwhile, Mr. Peggotty has been searching for signs of his lost Emily all of this time. David 

has kept in touch with Mr. Peggotty whenever Mr. Peggotty has come back to London in his 

travels throughout Europe. Finally, one evening, an acquaintance of Emily and David's, Martha 

Endell, seeks David out and leads him to a poor attic room where Emily is staying in London.  

 

David overhears a friend of Steerforth's, Miss Rosa Dartle, cursing and mocking Emily for 

staying alive after ruining the Steerforth household. Mr. Peggotty comes up the stairs just as 

Miss Dartle leaves, embraces Emily, and carries her downstairs. Later on, Mr. Peggotty comes 

to David's house to thank him for his help. Mr. Peggotty explains that Emily had been held 

prisoner in Italy by Steerforth's rascally servant, Littimer. Eventually, she managed to escape, 

but she fell ill and had to rely on the charity of the local people to nurse her back to health. 



Eventually, she made her way back to London. Now that Mr. Peggotty has found Emily, he 

plans to take her to Australia, where she can start again.  

 

At Mr. Micawber's sudden request, David, Traddles, and Miss Betsey all meet Mr. Micawber 

in Canterbury. He asks them to join him at the Wickfields' house. Once there, Mr. Micawber 

calls out Uriah Heep and accuses him of blackmail, exploitation, and falsification of 

documents, with Mr. Wickfield as the main victim. Mr. Micawber has been lucky enough to 

collect proof of wrongdoing, so Uriah Heep knows the jig is up. Mr. Micawber is so happy to 

be free of Uriah Heep that he runs straight home and hugs his wife. Sure, he's back in debt and 

he's gotten involved in some shady dealings, but Mr. Micawber has done the right thing in the 

end. He, Mrs. Micawber, and their many children agree to immigrate to Australia with Mr. 

Peggotty and Emily.  

 

Still struggling with her health after miscarrying, Dora gets sicker and sicker. David starts to 

realize that she may die. Agnes comes to nurse Dora. Dora loves Agnes and, just before she 

finally passes away, Dora sends David out of the room so that she can say something in secret 

to Agnes. Then, Dora dies.  

 

David starts making plans to go to Europe to get away from it all. As David is making these 

plans, he stays in touch with Mr. Peggotty. Mr. Peggotty brings David a letter. The letter is 

from Emily to Ham, which David should only give to Ham if he thinks Ham can take it. In the 

letter, Emily thanks Ham for being so kind to her and hopes they shall meet again in a world 

where she can be forgiven. David promises Mr. Peggotty that he will bring the letter to 

Yarmouth.  

 

David is worried that Ham will do something reckless if he doesn't have some kind of closure 

to his relationship with Emily. So, even though Dora has just passed away recently, David 

decides to go to Yarmouth. At Yarmouth, an immensely strong wind blows up. News comes 

of a wrecked boat off the shore. Ham Peggotty goes out to attempt to salvage the boat, but the 



tide is so strong that he drowns. And who should be on the boat but James Steerforth, who also 

drowns.  

 

David decides not to bring the news of Ham's death to Mr. Peggotty and Emily; he doesn't want 

to break their hearts. David does go to Mrs. Steerforth's house to tell her of James Steerforth's 

death and to bring her the body of her son. Mrs. Steerforth cannot seem to understand what 

David is telling her; she faints. David leaves her in the care of her doctors and her resentful 

caretaker, Miss Rosa Dartle.  

 

David goes to the London dock to watch the ship bound for Australia carry away the 

Micawbers, Mr. Peggotty, and Emily. He also sees that Mr. Peggotty has generously allowed 

Mrs. Gummidge and Martha Endell to accompany him to the new world. David waves 

goodbye.  

 

David heads to Europe for three years to get away from familiar sights. While he is abroad, he 

realizes what everyone else has known for, like, years: he should never have married Dora, 

sweet and beautiful though she was. He should have married Agnes, who is he actually respects 

and likes to talk to. But David thinks it's too late, and that he can't expect Agnes to marry him 

after keeping her on the hook all of this time. David returns to England. 

 

After about two months back in England, David has taken to visiting Agnes in Canterbury at 

least once a week. Finally, David asks Agnes point blank if she has feelings for anyone. David 

realizes that Agnes has feelings for him. David declares his love to Agnes, and the two get 

engaged. Agnes tells David Dora's last words: Dora made Agnes promise not to let anyone 

marry David unless it was Agnes herself. Miss Betsey is so excited at the news that she goes 

into hysterics.  

 

David and Agnes marry and have many children. Mr. Peggotty, Emily, and the Micawbers all 

flourish in Australia. Traddles settles down with his beautiful Sophy. Mrs. Steerforth has fallen 

into senility, but she continues to be cared for by Miss Rosa Dartle – who also never loses an 



opportunity to scold Mrs. Steerforth for allowing James to grow up into such an arrogant jerk. 

Miss Betsey and Peggotty are still going strong. Peggotty and Mr. Dick frequently play with 

David's children. Still, looking back on his life, the one face that shines out the brightest to 

David is that of his beloved wife, Agnes, who continues to make David a better man. 

 

UNIT II 

TREASURE ISELAND 

Treasure Island is an adventure novel by Scottish author Robert Louis Stevenson, narrating a 

tale of "buccaneers and buried gold". Its influence is enormous on popular perceptions of 

pirates, including such elements as treasure maps marked with an "X", schooners, the Black 

Spot, tropical islands, and one-legged seamen bearing parrots on their shoulders.[1] 

Treasure Island is traditionally considered a coming-of-age story and is noted for its 

atmosphere, characters, and action. It is one of the most frequently dramatized of all novels. It 

was originally serialized in the children's magazine Young Folks between 1881 through 1882 

under the title Treasure Island, or the mutiny of the Hispaniola, credited to the pseudonym 

"Captain George North". It was first published as a book on 14 November 1883, by Cassell & 

Co. 

PART I—"THE OLD BUCCANEER" 

An old sailor, calling himself "the captain"—real name Billy Bones—comes to lodge at the 

Admiral Benbow Inn on the west English coast during the mid-1700s, paying the innkeeper's 

son, Jim Hawkins, a few pennies to keep a lookout for a one-legged "seafaring man". A seaman 

with intact legs, but missing two fingers, shows up to confront Billy about sharing his treasure 

map. After a running the stranger off in a violent fight, Billy who drinks far too much rum has 

a stroke and Billy tells Jim that his former shipmates covet the contents of his sea chest. After 

a visit from an evil blind man named Pew who gives him "the black spot", as a summons to 

share the treasure, Billy has another stroke and dies; Jim and his mother (his father has also 

died just a few days before) unlock the sea chest, finding some money, a journal, and a map. 

The local physician, Dr. Livesey, deduces that the map is of an island where a deceased pirate—

Captain Flint—buried a vast treasure. The district squire, Trelawney, proposes buying a ship 

and going after the treasure, taking Livesey as ship's doctor and Jim as cabin boy. 



PART II—"THE SEA COOK" 

Several weeks later, Trelawney sends for Jim and Livesey and introduces them to "Long John" 

Silver, a one-legged Bristol tavern-keeper whom he has hired as ship's cook. (Silver enhances 

his outre attributes—crutch, pirate argot, etc.—with a talking parrot.) They also meet Captain 

Smollett, who tells them that he dislikes most of the crew on the voyage, which it seems 

everyone in Bristol knows is a search for treasure. After taking a few precautions, however, 

they set sail on Trelawney's schooner, the Hispaniola, for the distant island. During the voyage, 

the first mate, a drunkard, disappears overboard. And just before the island is sighted, Jim—

concealed in an apple barrel—overhears Silver talking with two other crewmen.Most of them 

are former "gentlemen o'fortune" (pirates) in Flint's crew and have planned a mutiny. Jim alerts 

the captain, doctor, and squire, and they calculate that they will be seven to 19 against the 

mutineers and must pretend not to suspect anything until the treasure is found when they can 

surprise their adversaries. 

PART III—"MY SHORE ADVENTURE" 

But after the ship is anchored, Silver and some of the others go ashore, and two men who refuse 

to join the mutiny are killed—one with so loud a scream that everyone realizes there can be no 

more pretence. Jim has impulsively joined the shore party and covertly witnessed Silver 

committing one of the murders; now, in fleeing, he encounters a half-crazed Englishman, Ben 

Gunn, who tells him he was marooned here and can help against the mutineers in return for 

passage home and part of the treasure. 

PART IV—"THE STOCKADE" 

Meanwhile, Smollett, Trelawney, and Livesey, along with Trelawney's three servants and one 

of the other hands, Abraham Gray, abandon the ship and come ashore to occupy an old 

abandoned stockade. The men still on the ship, led by the coxswain Israel Hands, run up the 

pirate flag. One of Trelawney's servants and one of the pirates are killed in the fight to reach 

the stockade, and the ship's gun keeps up a barrage upon them, to no effect, until dark when 

Jim finds the stockade and joins them. The next morning, Silver appears under a flag of truce, 

offering terms that the captain refuses, and revealing that another pirate has been killed in the 

night (by Gunn, Jim realizes, although Silver does not). At Smollett's refusal to surrender the 

map, Silver threatens an attack, and, within a short while, the attack on the stockade is launched.  

PART V—"MY SEA ADVENTURE" 



After a battle, the surviving mutineers retreat, having lost five men, but two more of the 

captain's group have been killed and Smollett himself is badly wounded. When Livesey leaves 

in search of Gunn, Jim runs away without permission and finds Gunn's homemade coracle. 

After dark, he goes out and cuts the ship adrift. The two pirates on board, Hands and O'Brien, 

interrupt their drunken quarrel to run on deck, but the ship—with Jim's boat in her wake—is 

swept out to sea on the ebb tide. Exhausted, Jim falls asleep in the boat and wakes up the next 

morning, bobbing along on the west coast of the island, carried by a northerly current. 

Eventually, he encounters the ship, which seems deserted, but getting on board, he finds 

O'Brien dead and Hands badly wounded. He and Hands agree that they will beach the ship at 

an inlet on the northern coast of the island. As the ship is about to beach, Hands attempts to kill 

Jim but is himself killed in the attempt. Then, after securing the ship as well as he can, Jim goes 

back ashore and heads for the stockade. Once there, in utter darkness, he enters the 

blockhouse—to be greeted by Silver and the remaining five mutineers, who have somehow 

taken over the stockade in his absence. 

PART VI—"CAPTAIN SILVER" 

Silver and the others argue about whether to kill Jim, and Silver talks them down. He tells Jim 

that, when everyone found the ship was gone, the captain's party agreed to a treaty whereby 

they gave up the stockade and the map. In the morning, the doctor arrives to treat the wounded 

and sick pirates and tells Silver to look out for trouble when they find the site of the treasure. 

After he leaves, Silver and the others set out with the map, taking Jim along as hostage. They 

encounter a skeleton, arms apparently oriented toward the treasure, which seriously unnerves 

the party. Eventually, they find the treasure cache—empty. The pirates are about to charge at 

Silver and Jim, but are shots are fired by Livesey, Gray, and Gunn, from ambush. One pirate 

is killed and George Merry wounded, but quickly killed by Silver. The other three run away, 

and Livesey explains that Gunn had already found the treasure and taken it to his cave. 

In the next few days, they load much of the treasure onto the ship, abandon the three remaining 

mutineers (with supplies and ammunition) and sail away. At their first port in Spanish America, 

where they will sign on more crew, Silver steals a bag of money and escapes. The rest sail back 

to Bristol and divide up the treasure. Jim says there is more left on the island, but he for one 

will not undertake another voyage to recover it. 

Stevenson conceived the idea of Treasure Island (originally titled, "The Sea Cook: A Story for 

Boys") from a map of an imaginary, romantic island idly drawn by Stevenson and his stepson 



Lloyd Osbourne on a rainy day in Braemar, Scotland. Stevenson had just returned from his first 

stay in America, with memories of poverty, illness, and adventure (including his recent 

marriage), and a warm reconciliation between his parents had been established. Stevenson 

himself said in designing the idea of the story that, "It was to be a story for boys; no need of 

psychology or fine writing; and I had a boy at hand to be a touchstone. Women were excluded... 

and then I had an idea for Long John Silverfrom which I promised myself funds of 

entertainment; to take an admired friend of mine... to deprive him of all his finer qualities and 

higher graces of temperament, and to leave him with nothing but his strength, his courage, his 

quickness, and his magnificent geniality, and to try to express these in terms of the culture of 

a raw tarpaulin." Completing 15 chapters in as many days, Stevenson was interrupted by illness 

and, after leaving Scotland, continued working on the first draft outside London. While there, 

his father provided additional impetus, as the two discussed points of the tale, and Stevenson's 

father was the one who suggested the scene of Jim in the apple barrel and the name of Walrusfor 

Captain Flint's ship. 

Two general types of sea novels were popular during the 19th century: the navy yarn, which 

places a capable officer in adventurous situations amid realistic settings and historical events; 

and the desert island romance, which features shipwrecked or marooned characters confronted 

by treasure-seeking pirates or angry natives. Around 1815, the latter genre became one of the 

most popular fictional styles in Great Britain, perhaps because of the philosophical interest in 

Rousseau and Chateaubriand's "noble savage." It is obvious that Treasure Island was a climax 

of this development. The growth of the desert island genre can be traced back to 1719 when 

Daniel Defoe's legendary Robinson Crusoe was published. A century later, novels such as S. 

H. Burney's The Shipwreck (1816), and Sir Walter Scott's The Pirate (1822) continued to 

expand upon the strong influence of Defoe's classic. Other authors, however, in the mid 19th-

century, continued this work, including James Fenimore Cooper's The Pilot (1823). During the 

same period, Edgar Allan Poe wrote, "MS Found in a Bottle" (1833) and the intriguing tale of 

buried treasure, "The Gold-Bug" (1843). All of these works influenced Stevenson's end 

product. 

Specifically, however, Stevenson consciously borrowed material from previous authors. In a 

July 1884 letter to Sidney Colvin, he writes "Treasure Island came out of Kingsley's At Last, 

where I got the Dead Man's Chest—and that was the seed—and out of the great Captain 

Johnson's History of the Notorious Pirates." Stevenson also admits that he took the idea of 



Captain Flint's skeleton point from Poe's "The Gold-Bug," and he constructed Billy Bones' 

history from the pages of Washington Irving, one of his favorite writers.[2] 

One month after he conceived of "The Sea Cook," chapters began to appear in the pages of 

Young Folks magazine. Eventually, the entire novel ran in 17 weekly installments from 1 

October 1881, through 28 January 1882. Later the book was republished as the novel Treasure 

Island and the book proved to be Stevenson's first financial and critical success. William 

Gladstone (1809-1898), the zealous Liberal politician who served four terms as British prime 

minister between 1868 and 1894, was one of the book's biggest fans. 

Jim Hawkins: The first-person point of view, of almost the entire novel. Jim is the son of an 

innkeeper near Bristol, England, and is probably in his early teens. He is eager and enthusiastic 

to go to sea and hunt for treasure. He is a modest narrator, never boasting of the remarkable 

courage and heroism he consistently displays. Jim is often impulsive and impetuous, but he 

exhibits increasing sensitivity and wisdom. 

• Dr. David Livesey: The local doctor and magistrate. Dr. Livesey is wise and practical, 

and Jim respects but is not inspired by him. Some years previously, he had been in the British 

Army which fought (and lost) the 1745 Battle of Fontenoy.[3] Livesey exhibits common sense 

and rational thought while on the island, and his idea to send Ben to spook the pirates reveals 

a deep understanding of human nature. He is fair-minded, magnanimously agreeing to treat the 

pirates with just as much care as his own wounded men. As his name suggests, Livesey 

represents the steady, modest virtues of everyday life rather than fantasy, dream, or adventure. 

• Long John Silver: The cook on the voyage to Treasure Island. Silver is the secret 

ringleader of the pirate band. His physical and emotional strength are impressive. Silver is 

deceitful and disloyal, greedy and visceral, and does not care about human relations. Yet he is 

always kind toward Jim and genuinely fond of the boy. Silver is a powerful mixture of charisma 

and self-destructiveness, individualism and recklessness. The one-legged Silver was based in 

part on Stevenson's friend and mentor William Ernest Henley. 

• Captain Alexander Smollett: The captain of the voyage to Treasure Island. Captain 

Smollett is savvy and is rightly suspicious of the crew Trelawney has hired. Smollett is a real 

professional, taking his job seriously and displaying significant skill as a negotiator. Like 

Livesey, Smollett is too competent and reliable to be an inspirational figure for Jim’s teenage 

mind. Smollett believes in rules and does not like Jim’s disobedience; he even tells Jim that he 

never wishes to sail with him again. 



• Squire John Trelawney: A local wealthy landowner; his name suggests he has Cornish 

origins (a traditional Cornish rhyme states "By Tre, Pol and Pen, Ye shall know all 

Cornishmen"). Trelawney arranges the voyage to the island to find the treasure. Trelawney is 

excessively trustful as the ease with which the pirates trick him into hiring them as his crew 

demonstrates. 

• Billy Bones: The old seaman who resides at Jim’s parents’ inn. Billy, who used to be a 

member of Flint’s crew, is surly and rude. He hires Jim to be on the lookout for a one-legged 

man, thus involving the young Jim in the pirate life. Billy’s sea chest and treasure map set the 

whole adventure in motion. His gruff refusal to pay his inn bills symbolizes the pirates’ general 

opposition to law, order, and civilization. His illness and his fondness for rum symbolize the 

weak and self-destructive aspects of the pirate lifestyle. He dies of a stroke as a result of a 

combination of drinking too much rum and the double shock of seeing Blind Pew and the 

realization that Long John Silver has tracked him down. 

Minor characters 

Blind Pew: A vicious, deadly, blind beggar who served as a member of Flint's crew. Despite 

his blindness, he proves to be a dangerous fighter and can even be considered a ringleader 

amongst his fellow crewmen. He is the second messenger to approach Billy Bones and the one 

to deliver the Black Spot. He is trampled to death by the horses of revenue officers riding to 

assist Jim Hawkins after the raid on his family's inn. Silver claims Pew spent his share of Flint's 

treasure at a rate of £ 1,200) per year and that for two years until his accident at the "Admiral 

Benbow" he begged, stole, and murdered. Stevenson avoided predictability by making the two 

most fearsome characters a blind man and an amputee. In the play Admiral Guinea (1892), 

Stevenson gives him the full name "David Pew". Stevenson's novel Kidnapped (1886) also 

features a dangerous blind man. 

• Alan: A sailor who does not mutiny. He is killed by the mutineers for his loyalty and 

his dying scream is heard by several people. 

• Allardyce: One of the six members of Flint's Crew who, after burying the treasure and 

silver and building the blockhouse on Treasure Island, are all killed by Flint. His body is lined 

up by Flint as a compass marker to the cache. According to The Adventures of Ben Gunn, his 

first name was Nic, he was surgeon on Flint's crew, and Ben Gunn was his servant and friend 

from back home. 



• Job Anderson: The ship's boatswain and one of the leaders of the mutiny. He 

participates in the storming of the blockhouse and is killed by Gray while attacking Jim. One 

of Flint's old pirate hands (though this is never stated). Along with Hands and Merry, he tipped 

a Black Spot on Silver and forced Silver to start the mutiny before the treasure was found. 

• Mr. Arrow: The first mate of the Hispaniola. He is an alcoholic and is useless as a first 

mate. He disappears before they get to the island and his position is filled by Job Anderson. 

(Silver had secretly given Mr. Arrow alcohol and he fell drunkenly overboard on a stormy 

night.) In his BBC adaptation of 1977, John Lucarotti gives him the first name 'Joshua'.  

• Black Dog: Formerly a member of Flint's pirate crew, later one of Pew's companions 

who visits the Admiral Benbow to confront Billy Bones. He is spotted by Jim in Silver's tavern 

and slips out to be chased by two of Silver's men (in order to maintain the ruse that Silver and 

his men are unassociated with him). Two fingers are missing from his left hand. 

• Mr. Dance: Chief revenue officer (titled: Supervisor) who ascends with his men upon 

the Admiral Benbow, driving out the pirates, and saving Jim Hawkins and his mother. He then 

takes Hawkins to see the squire and the doctor. 

• Dogger: One of Mr. Dance's associates, who doubles Hawkins on his horse to the 

squire's house. 

• Captain Flint: John Flint, the fictional pirate Captain of the Walrus. After robbing and 

looting towns and ships among the Spanish Main, in August 1750, he took six of his own crew 

onto Treasure Island. After building a stockade and burying the bulk of his looted treasure, he 

killed all six men. In July 1754, he died at Savannah, Georgia, of Cyanosis, caused by drinking 

too much rum. While dying, he gives his treasure map to Billy Bones. Long John Silver's parrot 

is named after Captain Flint. Several members of his crew figure in the story: William "Billy" 

Bones, the ship's first mate; Long John Silver, the ship's quartermaster; Israel Hands, the ship's 

chief gunner; Allardyce, used as Flint's "pointer" to the treasure; Job Anderson, the Hispaniola 

boatswain and mutineer; Dirk, one of Pew's henchmen in the assault on the Admiral Benbow 

inn; Black Dog, another of Pew's henchmen in the assault on the Admiral Benbow inn; 

Benjamin Gunn, the island maroon; John, a Hispaniola mutineer, possibly one of Pew's 

henchmen on the assault on the Admirial Benbow inn; Tom Morgan, a Hispaniola mutineer; 

Blind Pew, the blind murderous beggar; and an unnamed mutineer of the Hispaniola marooned 

with Morgan and Johnson on Treasure Island. 



• Abraham Gray: A ship's carpenter on the Hispaniola. He is almost incited to mutiny but 

remains loyal to the Squire's side when asked to do so by Captain Smollett. He saves Hawkins' 

life by killing Job Anderson during an attack on the stockade, and he helps shoot the mutineers 

at the rifled treasure cache. He later escapes the island together with Jim Hawkins, Dr. Livesey, 

Squire Trelawney, Captain Smollett, Long John Silver, and Ben Gunn. He spends his part of 

the treasure on his education, marries, and becomes part owner of a full-rigged ship. 

• Benjamin "Ben" Gunn: A former member of Flint's crew who became half insane after 

being marooned for three years on Treasure Island, having convinced another ship's crew that 

he was capable of finding Flint's treasure. Helps Jim by giving him the location of his 

homemade boat and kills two of the mutineers. After Dr. Livesey gives him what he most 

craves (cheese), Gunn reveals that he has found the treasure. In Spanish America, he lets Silver 

escape, and in England spends his share of the treasure (£ 1,000) in 19 days, becoming a beggar 

until he becomes keeper at a lodge and a church singer "on Sundays and holy days". 

• Israel Hands: The ship's coxswain and Flint's old gunner. He is killed on the Hispaniola 

by Jim Hawkins when he tries to murder him. 

• Mr. and Mrs. Hawkins: The parents of Jim Hawkins. Mr. Hawkins dies shortly after the 

beginning of the story. 

• John Hunter: The other manservant of Squire Trelawney. He also accompanies him to 

the island but is later knocked unconscious at an attack on the stockade. He dies of his injuries 

while unconscious. 

• John: A mutineer who is injured while trying to storm the blockhouse. He is later shown 

with a bandaged head and ends up being killed at the rifled treasure cache. 

• Dick Johnson: The youngest of the mutineers, who has a Bible. The pirates use one of 

its pages to make a Black Spot for Silver, only to have him predict bad luck on Dick for 

sacrilege. Soon becoming mortally ill with malaria, Dick ends up being marooned on the island 

after the deaths of George Merry and John. 

• Richard Joyce: One of the manservants of Squire Trelawney, he accompanies him to 

the island. He is shot through the head and killed by a mutineer during an attack on the stockade. 

• George Merry: A mutinous and hostile member of Silver's crew, who disobeys orders 

and occasionally challenges Silver's authority. He launches the mutiny prematurely, forcing 



Long John to flee to the island with Jim as an improvised hostage. With Anderson and Hands, 

he forces Silver to attack the blockhouse instead of waiting for the treasure to be found. Later 

killed at the empty cache just as he is about to kill both Silver and Hawkins. 

• Tom Morgan: An ex-pirate from Flint's old crew. He ends up marooned on the island 

with Dick and one other mutineer. 

• O'Brien: A mutineer who survives the attack on the boathouse and escapes. He is later 

killed by Israel Hands in a drunken fight on the Hispaniola. 

• Tom Redruth: The gamekeeper of Squire Trelawney, he accompanies the Squire to the 

island but is shot and killed by the mutineers during an attack on the stockade. 

• Tom: An honest sailor. He starts to walk away from Silver who throws his crutch at 

him, breaking Tom's back. Silver kills Tom by stabbing him twice in the back. 

Among other minor characters whose names are not revealed are the four pirates who were 

killed in an attack on the stockade along with Job Anderson; the pirate killed by the honest men 

minus Jim Hawkins before the attack on the stockade; the pirate shot by Squire Trelawney 

when aiming at Israel Hands, who later died of his injuries; and the pirate marooned on the 

island along with Tom Morgan and Dick. 

UNIT III 

HEART OF DARKNESS 

Heart of Darkness (1899) is a novella by Polish-British novelist Joseph Conrad, about a voyage 

up the Congo River into the Congo Free State, in the heart of Africa, by the story's narrator 

Charles Marlow.[1] Marlow tells his story to friends aboard a boat anchored on the River 

Thames, London, England. This setting provides the frame for Marlow's story of his obsession 

with the ivory trader Kurtz, which enables Conrad to create a parallel between London and 

Africa as places of darkness 

Central to Conrad's work is the idea that there is little difference between so-called civilised 

people and those described as savages; Heart of Darkness raises questions about imperialism 

and racism. 

 Originally issued as a three-part serial story in Blackwood's Magazine to celebrate the 

thousandth edition of the magazine Heart of Darkness has been widely re-published and 



translated into many languages. In 1998, the Modern Library ranked Heart of Darknesssixty-

seventh on their list of the hundred best novels in English of the twentieth century. 

ABOUT THE AUTHOR  

In 1890, at the age of 32, Conrad was appointed by a Belgian trading company to serve on one 

of its steamers. While sailing up the Congo river from one station to another, the captain 

became ill and Conrad assumed command, guiding the ship to the trading company's innermost 

station. The story's main narrator, Charles Marlow, is based upon the author himself. 

When Conrad began to write the novella, eight years after returning from Africa, he drew 

inspiration from his travel journals.[6] He described Heart of Darkness as "a wild story" of a 

journalist who becomes manager of a station in the (African) interior and makes himself 

worshipped by a tribe of savages. Thus described, the subject seems comic, but it isn't."[7] The 

tale was first published as a three-part serial, February, March and April 1899, in Blackwood's 

Magazine (February 1899 was the magazine's 1000th issue: special edition). Then later, in 

1902, Heart of Darkness was included in the book Youth: a Narrative, and Two Other Stories 

(published on 13 November 1902, by William Blackwood). 

The volume consisted of Youth: a Narrative, Heart of Darkness and The End of the Tether in 

that order. For future editions of the book, in 1917 Conrad wrote an "Author's Note" where he, 

after denying any "unity of artistic purpose" underlying the collection, discusses each of the 

three stories, and makes light commentary on the character Marlow—the narrator of the tales 

within the first two stories. He also mentions how Youth marks the first appearance of Marlow. 

On 31 May 1902, in a letter to William Blackwood, Conrad remarked; 

"I call your own kind self to witness [...] the last pages of Heart of Darkness where the interview 

of the man and the girl locks in—as it were—the whole 30000 words of narrative description 

into one suggestive view of a whole phase of life and makes of that story something quite on 

another plane than an anecdote of a man who went mad in the Centre of Africa 

There have been many proposed sources for the character of the antagonist, Kurtz. Georges-

Antoine Klein, an agent who became ill and later died aboard Conrad's steamer, has been 

identified by scholars and literary critics as one basis for Kurtz. The principal figures involved 

in the disastrous "rear column" of the Emin Pasha Relief Expedition have also been identified 

as likely sources, including column leader Edmund Musgrave Barttelot, slave trader Tippu Tip 

and the expedition's overall leader, Welsh explorer Henry Morton Stanley. Adam Hochschild, 



in King Leopold's Ghost, believes that the Belgian soldier Léon Rom is the most important 

influence on the character 

PLOT SUMMARY 

Aboard the Nellie, anchored in the River Thames near Gravesend, England, Charles Marlow 

tells his fellow sailors about the events that led to his appointment as captain of a river 

steamboat for an ivory trading company. As a child, Marlow had been fascinated by "the blank 

spaces" on maps, particularly by the biggest, which by the time he had grown up was no longer 

blank but turned into "a place of darkness" (Conrad 10). Yet there remained a big river, 

"resembling an immense snake uncoiled, with its head in the sea, its body at rest curving afar 

over a vast country and its tail lost in the depths of the land" (Conrad 10). The image of this 

river on the map fascinated Marlow "as a snake would a bird" (Conrad 10). Feeling as though 

"instead of going to the centre of a continent I were about to set off for the centre of the earth", 

Marlow takes passage on a French steamer bound for the African coast and then into the interior 

(Conrad 18). After more than thirty days the ship anchors off the seat of the government near 

the mouth of the big river. Marlow, still some two hundred miles to go, now takes passage on 

a little sea-going steamer captained by a Swede. He departs some thirty miles up the river where 

his Company's station is. Work on the railway is going on, involving removal of rocks with 

explosives. Marlow enters a narrow ravine to stroll in the shade under the trees, and finds 

himself in "the gloomy circle of some Inferno": the place is full of diseased Africans who 

worked on the railroad and now await their deaths, their sickened bodies already as thin as air 

(Conrad 24–25). Marlow witnesses the scene "horror-struck" (Conrad 26). 

Marlow has to wait for ten days in the Company's Outer Station, where he sleeps in a hut. At 

this station, which strikes Marlow as a scene of devastation, he meets the Company's 

impeccably dressed chief accountant who tells him of a Mr. Kurtz, who is in charge of a very 

important trading-post, and a widely respected, first-class agent, a "'very remarkable person'" 

who "'Sends in as much ivory as all the others put together'" (Conrad 28). The agent predicts 

that Kurtz will go very far: "'He will be a somebody in the Administration before long. They, 

above—the Council in Europe, you know—mean him to be'" (Conrad 29). 

Marlow has to wait for ten days in the Company's Outer Station, where he sleeps in a hut. At 

this station, which strikes Marlow as a scene of devastation, he meets the Company's 

impeccably dressed chief accountant who tells him of a Mr. Kurtz, who is in charge of a very 

important trading-post, and a widely respected, first-class agent, a "'very remarkable person'" 



who "'Sends in as much ivory as all the others put together'" (Conrad 28). The agent predicts 

that Kurtz will go very far: "'He will be a somebody in the Administration before long. They, 

above—the Council in Europe, you know—mean him to be'" (Conrad 29). 

Marlow departs with a caravan of sixty men to travel on foot some two hundred miles into the 

wilderness to the Central Station, where the steamboat that he is to captain is based. On the 

fifteenth day of his march, he arrives at the station, which has some twenty employees, and is 

shocked to learn from a fellow European that his steamboat had been wrecked in a mysterious 

accident two days earlier. He meets the general manager, who informs him that he could wait 

no longer for Marlow to arrive, because the up-river stations had to be relieved, and rumours 

had one important station in jeopardy because its chief, the exceptional Mr. Kurtz, was ill. 

"Hang Kurtz", Marlow thinks, irritated (Conrad 34). He fishes his boat out of the river and is 

occupied with its repair for some months, during which a sudden fire destroys a grass shed full 

of materials used to trade with the natives. While one of the natives is tortured for allegedly 

causing the fire, Marlow is invited in the room of the station's brick-maker, a man who spent a 

year waiting for material to make bricks. Marlow gets the impression the man wants to pump 

him, and is curious to know what kind of information he is after. Hanging on the wall is "a 

small sketch in oils, on a panel, representing a woman draped and blindfolded carrying a lighted 

torch" (Conrad 39). Marlow is fascinated with the sinister effect of the torchlight upon the 

woman's face, and is informed that Mr. Kurtz made the painting in the station a year ago. The 

brick-maker calls Kurtz "'a prodigy'" and "'an emissary of pity, and science, and progress'", and 

feels Kurtz represents the "'higher intelligence, wide sympathies, a singleness of purpose'" 

needed for the cause Europe entrusts the Company with (Conrad 39). The man predicts Kurtz 

will rise in the hierarchy within two years and then makes the connection to Marlow: "'The 

same people who sent him specially also recommended you'" (Conrad 39–40). 

Marlow is frustrated by the months it takes to perform the necessary repairs, made all the slower 

by the lack of proper tools and replacement parts at the station. During this time, he learns that 

Kurtz is far from admired, but more or less resented (mostly by the manager). 

Once underway, the journey up-river to Kurtz's station takes two months to the day. The 

steamboat stops briefly near an abandoned hut on the riverbank, where Marlow finds a pile of 

wood and a note indicating that the wood is for them and that they should proceed quickly but 

with caution as they near the Inner Station. 



The journey pauses for the night about eight miles below the Inner Station. In the morning the 

crew awakens to find that the boat is enveloped by a thick white fog. From the riverbank they 

hear a very loud cry, followed by a discordant clamour. A few hours later, as safe navigation 

becomes increasingly difficult, the steamboat is attacked with a barrage of small arrows from 

the forest. The helmsman is impaled by a spear and falls at Marlow's feet. Marlow sounds the 

steam whistle repeatedly, frightening the attackers and causing the shower of arrows to cease. 

Marlow and a pilgrim watch the helmsman die. In a flash forward, Marlow notes that the 

International Society for the Suppression of Savage Customs had commissioned Kurtz to write 

a report, which he did eloquently. A handwritten postscript, apparently added later by Kurtz, 

reads "Exterminate all the brutes!" (Conrad 83). 

At Kurtz's station Marlow sees a man on the riverbank waving his arm, urging them to land. 

The pilgrims, heavily armed, escort the manager on to the shore to retrieve Mr. Kurtz. The man 

from the bank boards the steamboat, and turns out to be a Russian wanderer who had happened 

to stray into Kurtz's camp. He explains that he had left the wood and the note at the abandoned 

hut. Through conversation Marlow discovers just how wanton Kurtz can be; how the natives 

worship him; and how very ill he has been of late. The Russian admires Kurtz for his intellect 

and his insights into love, life, and justice, and suggests that he is a poet. He tells of how Kurtz 

opened his mind, and seems to admire him even for his power—and for his willingness to use 

it. Marlow, on the other hand, suggests that Kurtz has gone mad. 

From the steamboat, Marlow observes the station in detail and is surprised to see near the 

station house a row of posts topped with the severed heads of natives. Around the corner of the 

house, the manager appears with the pilgrims, bearing a gaunt and ghost-like Kurtz on an 

improvised stretcher. The area fills with natives, apparently ready for battle, but Kurtz shouts 

something from the stretcher, and the natives retreat into the forest. The pilgrims carry Kurtz 

to the steamer and lay him in one of the cabins, where he and the manager have a private 

conversation. Marlow watches a beautiful native woman walk in measured steps along the 

shore and stop next to the steamer. When the manager exits the cabin he pulls Marlow aside  

and tells him that Kurtz has harmed the Company's business in the region, that his methods are 

"unsound". Later, the Russian reveals that Kurtz believes the Company wants to remove him 

from the station and kill him, and Marlow confirms that hangings had been discussed. 

After midnight, Marlow discovers that Kurtz has left his cabin on the steamer and returned to 

shore. He goes ashore and finds a very weak Kurtz crawling his way back to the station house, 



though not too weak to call to the natives for help. Marlow threatens to harm Kurtz if he raises 

an alarm, but Kurtz only laments that he had not accomplished more in the region. The next 

day they prepare for their journey back down the river. The natives, including the ornately 

dressed woman, once again assemble on shore and begin to shout unintelligibly. Noticing the 

pilgrims readying their rifles, Marlow sounds the steam whistle repeatedly to scatter the crowd 

of natives. Only the woman remains unmoved, with outstretched arms. The pilgrims open fire 

as the current carries them swiftly downstream. 

Kurtz's health worsens on the return trip, and Marlow himself becomes increasingly ill. The 

steamboat breaks down and, while it is stopped for repairs, Kurtz gives Marlow a packet of 

papers, including his commissioned report and a photograph, telling him to keep them away 

from the manager. When Marlow next speaks with him, Kurtz is near death; as he dies, Marlow 

hears him weakly whisper: "The horror! The horror!" (Conrad 116). A short while later, the 

"manager's boy" announces to the rest of the crew, in a scathing tone, "Mistah Kurtz—he dead" 

(Conrad 117). The next day Marlow pays little attention to the pilgrims as they bury 

"something" in a muddy hole (Conrad 117). He falls very ill, himself near death. 

Upon his return to Europe, Marlow is embittered and contemptuous of the "civilised" world. 

Many callers come to retrieve the papers Kurtz had entrusted to him, but Marlow withholds 

them or offers papers he knows they have no interest in. He then gives Kurtz's report to a 

journalist, for publication if he sees fit. Finally Marlow is left with some personal letters and a 

photograph of Kurtz's fiancée, whom Kurtz referred to as "My Intended" (Conrad 79). When 

Marlow visits her, she is dressed in black and still deep in mourning, although it has been more 

than a year since Kurtz's death. She presses Marlow for information, asking him to repeat 

Kurtz's final words. Uncomfortable, Marlow lies and tells her that Kurtz's final word was her 

name. 

 

 

UNIT IV 

TO THE LIGHT HOUSE 

To the Lighthouse is a 1927 novel by Virginia Woolf. The novel centres on the Ramsays and 

their visits to the Isle of Skye in Scotland between 1910 and 1920. 



Following and extending the tradition of modernist novelists like Marcel Proust and James 

Joyce, the plot of To the Lighthouse is secondary to its philosophical introspection. Cited as a 

key example of the literary technique of multiple focalization, the novel includes little dialogue 

and almost no action; most of it is written as thoughts and observations. The novel recalls 

childhood emotions and highlights adult relationships. Among the book's many tropes and 

themes are those of loss, subjectivity, the nature of art and the problem of perception. 

In 1998, the Modern Library named To the Lighthouse No. 15 on its list of the 100 best English-

language novels of the 20th century.[1]In 2005, the novel was chosen by TIME magazine as 

one of the one hundred best English-language novels since 1923 

 

Part I: The Window 

The novel is set in the Ramsays' summer home in the Hebrides, on the Isle of Skye. The section 

begins with Mrs Ramsay assuring her son James that they should be able to visit the lighthouse 

on the next day. This prediction is denied by Mr Ramsay, who voices his certainty that the 

weather will not be clear, an opinion that forces a certain tension between Mr and Mrs Ramsay, 

and also between Mr Ramsay and James. This particular incident is referred to on various 

occasions throughout the section, especially in the context of Mr and Mrs Ramsay's 

relationship. 

The Ramsays and their eight children have been joined at the house by a number of friends and 

colleagues. One of them, Lily Briscoe, begins the novel as a young, uncertain painter 

attempting a portrait of Mrs. Ramsay and James. Briscoe finds herself plagued by doubts 

throughout the novel, doubts largely fed by the claims of Charles Tansley, another guest, who 

asserts that women can neither paint nor write. Tansley himself is an admirer of Mr Ramsay, a 

philosophy professor, and his academic treatises. 

The section closes with a large dinner party. When Augustus Carmichael, a visiting poet, asks 

for a second serving of soup, Mr Ramsay nearly snaps at him. Mrs Ramsay is herself out of 

sorts when Paul Rayley and Minta Doyle, two acquaintances whom she has brought together 

in engagement, arrive late to dinner, as Minta has lost her grandmother's brooch on the beach. 

Part I: The Window 



The novel is set in the Ramsays' summer home in the Hebrides, on the Isle of Skye. The section 

begins with Mrs Ramsay assuring her son James that they should be able to visit the lighthouse 

on the next day. This prediction is denied by Mr Ramsay, who voices his certainty that the 

weather will not be clear, an opinion that forces a certain tension between Mr and Mrs Ramsay, 

and also between Mr Ramsay and James. This particular incident is referred to on various 

occasions throughout the section, especially in the context of Mr and Mrs Ramsay's 

relationship. 

The Ramsays and their eight children have been joined at the house by a number of friends and 

colleagues. One of them, Lily Briscoe, begins the novel as a young, uncertain painter 

attempting a portrait of Mrs. Ramsay and James. Briscoe finds herself plagued by doubts 

throughout the novel, doubts largely fed by the claims of Charles Tansley, another guest, who 

asserts that women can neither paint nor write. Tansley himself is an admirer of Mr Ramsay, a 

philosophy professor, and his academic treatises. 

The section closes with a large dinner party. When Augustus Carmichael, a visiting poet, asks 

for a second serving of soup, Mr Ramsay nearly snaps at him. Mrs Ramsay is herself out of 

sorts when Paul Rayley and Minta Doyle, two acquaintances whom she has brought together 

in engagement, arrive late to dinner, as Minta has lost her grandmother's brooch on the beach. 

Part II: Time Passes 

The second section gives a sense of time passing, absence, and death. Ten years pass, during 

which the First World War begins and ends. Mrs Ramsay dies, as do two of her children - Prue 

dies from complications of childbirth, and Andrew is killed in the war. Mr Ramsay is left adrift 

without his wife to praise and comfort him during his bouts of fear and anguish regarding the 

longevity of his philosophical work. This section is told from an omniscient point of view and 

occasionally from Mrs. McNab's point of view. Mrs. McNab worked in the Ramsay's house 

since the beginning, and thus provides a clear view of how things have changed in the time the 

summer house has been unoccupied. 

Part III: The Lighthouse 

In the final section, “The Lighthouse,” some of the remaining Ramsays and other guests return 

to their summer home ten years after the events of Part I. Mr Ramsay finally plans on taking 

the long-delayed trip to the lighthouse with daughter Cam(illa) and son James (the remaining 

Ramsay children are virtually unmentioned in the final section). The trip almost does not 



happen, as the children are not ready, but they eventually set off. As they travel, the children 

are silent in protest at their father for forcing them to come along. However, James keeps the 

sailing boat steady and rather than receiving the harsh words he has come to expect from his 

father, he hears praise, providing a rare moment of empathy between father and son; Cam's 

attitude towards her father changes also, from resentment to eventual admiration. 

They are accompanied by the sailor Macalister and his son, who catches fish during the trip. 

The son cuts a piece of flesh from a fish he has caught to use for bait, throwing the injured fish 

back into the sea. 

While they set sail for the lighthouse, Lily attempts to finally complete the painting she has 

held in her mind since the start of the novel. She reconsiders her memory of Mrs and Mr 

Ramsay, balancing the multitude of impressions from ten years ago in an effort to reach towards 

an objective truth about Mrs Ramsay and life itself. Upon finishing the painting (just as the 

sailing party reaches the lighthouse) and seeing that it satisfies her, she realises that the 

execution of her vision is more important to her than the idea of leaving some sort of legacy in 

her work. 

To the Lighthouse Summary 

Mrs. Ramsay, Mr. Ramsay (a philosopher), their eight children, and several guests are staying 

at the family's summer home in the Hebrides, on the Isle of Skye, just before the start of World 

War I. Just across the bay is a lighthouse, which becomes a prominent presence in the family's 

life. James Ramsay, the youngest child, wants to go to the Lighthouse the next day, but Mr. 

Ramsay crushes his hopes, saying that the weather will not be pleasant enough for the trip. 

James resents his father for his insensitivity as well as for his emotional demands on Mrs. 

Ramsay, and this resentment persists throughout the novel. 

The houseguests include Lily Briscoe, an unmarried painter who begins a portrait of Mrs. 

Ramsay; Charles Tansley, who is not very well liked; William Bankes, whom Mrs. Ramsay 

wants Lily to marry, but Lily never does; and Paul Rayley and Minta Doyle, who become 

engaged during their visit. 

Mrs. Ramsay spends the afternoon reading to James as Lily watches her from the lawn, 

attempting to paint her portrait. Mr. Ramsay also watches her as he walks and worries about 

his intellectual shortcomings, afraid that he will never achieve greatness. Andrew Ramsay, 



Nancy Ramsay, Paul Rayley, and Minta Doyle take a walk on the beach, where Paul proposes 

to Minta. 

For the evening, Mrs. Ramsay has planned a dinner for fifteen guests including Augustus 

Carmichael, a friend and poet. The dinner gets off to a shaky start as Mr. Ramsay becomes 

angry with Mr. Carmichael for requesting more soup and no one seems to be enjoying the 

conversation. However, at a certain magical moment, everyone in the room seems to connect, 

and Mrs. Ramsay hopes that something permanent will result from this connection. Following 

dinner, Mr. and Mrs. Ramsay sit together in the parlor, and Mrs. Ramsay finds that she unable 

to tell her husband that she loves him. Nevertheless, though their unspoken communication she 

is sure that he knows. The Ramsays and their guests go to sleep. 

In the second section of the novel, "Time Passes," the house is abandoned for ten years, 

suffering the ravages of time, neglect, and decay. Mrs. Ramsay unexpectedly dies one night, 

as does Prue in an illness related to childbirth. Andrew is the third Ramsay to die when he is 

killed instantaneously in battle. Mrs. McNab goes to the house occasionally to tidy it up and 

restore it, but it is not until she hears word that the remaining Ramsays will be returning for the 

summer that she gets everything in order. 

In "The Lighthouse," all of the living Ramsays, as well as other guests (including Lily Briscoe), 

return to the summer home. Mr. Ramsay decides that he, James, and Cam Ramsay will finally 

take the trip to the Lighthouse, but the children are resentful of his domineering manner. He is 

angry about delays on the morning of the trip, and he approaches Lily for sympathy, but she is 

unable to feel any sympathy for him until he has already set off on the journey, when it is too 

late. Just as Mr. Ramsay decides to finally take this journey, Lily Briscoe decides to finally 

finish the painting that she started ten years ago. 

On the boat, the children continue to resent their father's self-pity, yet as the ship approaches 

the Lighthouse, they find a new tenderness for and connection to him. As the boat reaches its 

destination, Lily paints the final stroke on her canvas and finally achieves her vision. 

UNIT V 

BRAVE NEW WORLD 

Brave New World is a dystopian novel written in 1931 by English author Aldous Huxley, and 

published in 1932. Set in London in the year AD 2540 (632 A.F.—"After Ford"—in the book), 

the novel anticipates developments in reproductive technology, sleep-learning, psychological 



manipulation, and classical conditioning that are combined to make a profound change in 

society. Huxley followed this book with a reassessment in an essay, Brave New World 

Revisited (1958), and with Island (1962), his final novel. 

In 1999, the Modern Library ranked Brave New World fifth on its list of the 100 best English-

language novels of the 20th century In 2003, Robert McCrum writing for The Observer 

included Brave New World chronologically at number 53 in "the top 100 greatest novels of all 

time",and the novel was listed at number 87 on the BBC's survey The Big Read 

BACKGROUND 

Huxley wrote Brave New World while living in Sanary-sur-Mer, France, in the four months 

from May to August 1931.[8] By this time, Huxley had already established himself as a writer 

and social satirist. He was a contributor to Vanity Fair and Vogue magazines, and had published 

a collection of his poetry (The Burning Wheel, 1916) and four successful satirical novels: 

Crome Yellow (1921), Antic Hay (1923), Those Barren Leaves (1925), and Point Counter 

Point (1928). Brave New World was Huxley's fifth novel and first dystopianwork. 

Huxley said that Brave New World was inspired by the utopian novels of H. G. Wells, 

including A Modern Utopia (1905) and Men Like Gods (1923).[9] Wells's hopeful vision of 

the future's possibilities gave Huxley the idea to begin writing a parody of the novel, which 

became Brave New World. He wrote in a letter to Mrs. Arthur Goldsmith, an American 

acquaintance, that he had "been having a little fun pulling the leg of H. G. Wells," but then he 

"got caught up in the excitement of [his] own ideas."[10] Unlike the most popular optimist 

utopian novels of the time, Huxley sought to provide a frightening vision of the future. Huxley 

referred to Brave New World as a "negative utopia", somewhat influenced by Wells's own The 

Sleeper Awakes (dealing with subjects like corporate tyranny and behavioural conditioning) 

and the works of D. H. Lawrence. 

George Orwell believed that Brave New World must have been partly derived from the novel 

We by Yevgeny Zamyatin. However, in a 1962 letter, Huxley says that he wrote Brave New 

World long before he had heard of We. According to We translator Natasha Randall, Orwell 

believed that Huxley was lying The scientific futurism in Brave New World is believed to be 

cribbed from Daedalus by J. B. S. Haldane.  

The events of the Depression in Britain in 1931, with its mass unemployment and the 

abandonment of the gold currency standard, persuaded Huxley to assert that stability was the 



"primal and ultimate need" if civilisation was to survive the present crisis.[15] The Brave New 

World character Mustapha Mond, Resident World Controller of Western Europe, is named 

after Sir Alfred Mond. Shortly before writing the novel, Huxley visited Mond's technologically 

advanced plant near Billingham, north east England, and it made a great impression on him.[15] 

Huxley used the setting and characters in his science fiction novel to express widely held 

opinions, particularly the fear of losing individual identity in the fast-paced world of the future. 

An early trip to the United States gave Brave New World much of its character. Not only was 

Huxley outraged by the culture of youth, commercial cheeriness and sexual promiscuity, and 

the inward-looking nature of many Americans,[16] he had also found the book My Life and 

Work by Henry Ford on the boat to America, and he saw the book's principles applied in 

everything he encountered after leaving San Francisco.[17] 

SUMMARY 

The novel opens in the World State city of London in AF 632 (AD 2540 in the Gregorian 

calendar), where citizens are engineered through artificial wombs and childhood indoctrination 

programs into predetermined classes (or castes) based on intelligence and labour. Lenina 

Crowne, a hatchery worker, is popular and sexually desirable, but Bernard Marx, a 

psychologist, is not. He is shorter in stature than the average member of his high caste, which 

gives him an inferiority complex. His work with sleep-learning allows him to understand, and 

disapprove of, his society's methods of keeping its citizens peaceful, which includes their 

constant consumption of a soothing drug called soma. Courting disaster, Bernard is vocal and 

arrogant about his criticisms, and his boss contemplates exiling him to Iceland because of his 

nonconformity. His only friend is Helmholtz Watson, a gifted writer who finds it difficult to 

use his talents creatively in their pain-free society. 

Bernard takes a holiday with Lenina outside the World State to a Savage Reservation in New 

Mexico, in which the two observe natural-born people, disease, the aging process, other 

languages, and religious lifestyles for the first time. (The culture of the village folk resembles 

the contemporary Native American groups of the region, descendants of the Anasazi, including 

the Puebloan peoples of Acoma, Laguna and Zuni.) Bernard and Lenina witness a violent 

public ritual and then encounter Linda, a woman originally from the World State who is living 

on the reservation with her son John, now a young man. She too visited the reservation on a 

holiday many years ago but became separated from her group and was left behind. She had 

meanwhile become pregnant by a fellow-holidaymaker (who is revealed to be Bernard's boss, 



the Director of Hatcheries and Conditioning). She did not try to return to the World State 

because of her shame at her pregnancy. Despite spending his whole life in the reservation, John 

has never been accepted by the villagers, and his and Linda's lives have been hard and 

unpleasant. Linda has taught John to read, although from the only two books in her possession: 

a scientific manual and the complete works of Shakespeare. Ostracised by the villagers, John 

is able to articulate his feelings only in terms of Shakespearean drama, especially the tragedies 

of Othello, Romeo and Juliet and Hamlet. Linda now wants to return to London, and John too 

wants to see this "brave new world". Bernard sees an opportunity to thwart plans to exile him, 

and gets permission to take Linda and John back. On their return to London, John meets the 

Director and calls him his "father", a vulgarity which causes a roar of laughter. The humiliated 

Director resigns in shame before he can follow through with exiling Bernard. 

Bernard, as "custodian" of the "savage" John who is now treated as a celebrity, is fawned on 

by the highest members of society and revels in attention he once scorned. Bernard's popularity 

is fleeting, though, and he becomes envious that John only really bonds with the literary-

minded Helmholtz. Considered hideous and friendless, Linda goes into a permanent soma state, 

while John refuses to attend social events organised by Bernard, appalled by what he perceives 

to be an empty society. Lenina and John are physically attracted to each other, but John's view 

of courtship and romance, based on Shakespeare, is utterly incompatible with Lenina's 

freewheeling attitude to sex. She tries to seduce him, but he attacks her, before suddenly being 

informed that his mother is on her deathbed. He rushes to Linda's bedside, causing a scandal 

as this is not the "correct" attitude to death. Some children who enter the ward for "death-

conditioning" come across as disrespectful to John until he attacks one physically. He then tries 

to break up a distribution of soma to a lower-caste group, telling them that he is freeing them. 

Helmholtz and Bernard rush in to stop the ensuing riot, which the police end up handling. 

Bernard, Helmholtz and John are all brought before Mustapha Mond, the "Resident World 

Controller for Western Europe", who tells Bernard and Helmholtz that they are to be exiled to 

islands for antisocial activity. Bernard pleads for a second chance, but Helmholtz welcomes 

the opportunity to be a true individual, and chooses the Falkland Islands as his destination, 

believing that their bad weather will inspire his writing. Mond says that Bernard does not know 

that exile is actually a reward. The islands are full of the most interesting people in the world, 

individuals who did not fit in the World State community. Mond outlines for John the events 

that led to the present society and his arguments for a caste system and social control. John 

rejects Mond's arguments, and Mond sums up John's views by claiming that John demands "the 



right to be unhappy". John asks if he may go to the islands as well, but Mond refuses and says 

he wishes to see what happens to him next. 

Jaded with his new life, John moves to an abandoned hilltop tower, near the village of 

Puttenham, where he intends to adopt a solitary ascetic lifestyle in order to purify himself of 

civilization, practising self-flagellation. This soon draws reporters and eventually hundreds of 

amazed sightseers, hoping to witness his bizarre behaviour; one of them is Lenina. At the sight 

of the woman he both adores and loathes, John attacks her with his whip. The onlookers are 

wildly aroused by the display and John is caught up in the crowd's soma-fueled frenzy. The 

next morning, he remembers the previous night's events and is stricken with remorse. 

Onlookers and journalists who arrive that evening discover John dead, having hanged himself.  

CHARACTERS 

John – the illicit son of the Director and Linda, born and reared on the Savage Reservation 

("Malpais") after Linda was unwittingly left behind by her errant lover. John ("the Savage", as 

he is often called) is an outsider both on the Reservation—where the natives still practice 

marriage, natural birth, family life and religion—and the ostensibly civilised World State, 

based on principles of stability and shallow happiness. He has read nothing but the complete 

works of William Shakespeare, which he quotes extensively, and, for the most part, aptly, 

though his allusion to the "Brave New World" (Miranda's words in The Tempest) takes on a 

darker and bitterly ironic resonance as the novel unfolds. John is intensely moral according to 

a code that he has been taught by Shakespeare and life in Malpais but is also naïve: his views 

are as imported into his own consciousness as are the hypnopedicmessages of World State 

citizens. The admonishments of the men of Malpais taught him to regard his mother as a whore; 

but he cannot grasp that these were the same men who continually sought her out despite their 

supposedly sacred pledges of monogamy. Because he is unwanted in Malpais, he accepts the 

invitation to travel back to London and is initially astonished by the comforts of the World 

State. However, he remains committed to values that exist only in his poetry. He first spurns 

Lenina for failing to live up to his Shakespearean ideal and then the entire utopian society: he 

asserts that its technological wonders and consumerism are poor substitutes for individual 

freedom, human dignity and personal integrity. After his mother's death, he becomes deeply 

distressed with grief, surprising onlookers in the hospital. He then ostracizes himself from 

society and attempts to purify himself of "sin" (desire), but is finally unable to do so and hangs 

himself in despair. 



Bernard Marx – an Alpha-Plus[clarification needed] sleep-learning specialist at the Central 

London Hatchery and Conditioning Centre. Bernard is a misfit. He is unusually short for an 

Alpha; an alleged accident with alcohol in Bernard's blood-surrogate before his decanting has 

left him slightly stunted. Bernard's independence of mind stems more from his inferiority 

complex and depressive nature than from any depth of philosophical conviction. Unlike his 

fellow utopians, Bernard is often angry, resentful, and jealous. At times, he is also cowardly 

and hypocritical. His conditioning is clearly incomplete. He doesn't enjoy communal sports, 

solidarity services, or promiscuous sex. He doesn't even get much joy out of soma. Bernard is 

in love with Lenina but he doesn't like her sleeping with other men, even though "everyone 

belongs to everyone else". Bernard's triumphant return to utopian civilisation with John the 

Savage from the Reservation precipitates the downfall of the Director, who had been planning 

to exile him. Bernard's triumph is short-lived. Success goes to his head. Despite his tearful 

pleas, he is ultimately banished to an island for his non-conformist behaviour. 

Helmholtz Watson – a handsome and successful Alpha-Plus lecturer at the College of 

Emotional Engineering and a friend of Bernard. He feels unfulfilled writing endless 

propaganda doggerel, and the stifling conformism and philistinism of the World State make 

him restive. Helmholtz is ultimately exiled to the Falkland Islands—a cold asylum for 

disaffected Alpha-Plus non-conformists—after reading a heretical poem to his students on the 

virtues of solitude and helping John destroy some Deltas' rations of soma following Linda's 

death. Unlike Bernard, he takes his exile in his stride and comes to view it as an opportunity 

for inspiration in his writing. 

Lenina Crowne – a young, beautiful fetus technician at the Central London Hatchery and 

Conditioning Centre. She is part of the 30% of the female population that are not freemartins 

(sterile women). Lenina is promiscuous and popular but somewhat quirky in their society: she 

had a four-month relation with Henry Foster, choosing not to have sex with anyone but him for 

a period of time. She is basically happy and well-conditioned but will use soma to suppress 

unwelcome emotions, as is expected. Lenina has a date with Bernard, to whom she feels 

ambivalently attracted, and she goes to the Reservation with him. On returning to civilisation, 

she tries and fails to seduce John the Savage. John loves and desires Lenina but he is repelled 

by her forwardness and the prospect of pre-marital sex, rejecting her as an "impudent strumpet". 

Lenina visits John at the lighthouse but he attacks her with a whip, unwittingly inciting 

onlookers to do the same. Her exact fate is left unspecified. 



Mustapha Mond – Resident World Controller of Western Europe, "His Fordship" Mustapha 

Mond presides over one of the ten zones of the World State, the global government set up after 

the cataclysmic Nine Years' War and great Economic Collapse. Sophisticated and good-

natured, Mond is an urbane and hyperintelligent advocate of the World State and its ethos of 

"Community, Identity, Stability". He is uniquely aware among the characters of the novel of 

the precise nature of the society he oversees and what it has given up to accomplish its gains. 

Mond argues that art, literature, and scientific freedom must be sacrificed to secure the ultimate 

utilitarian goal of maximising societal happiness. He defends the genetic caste system, 

behavioural conditioning, and the lack of personal freedom in the World State: these, he says, 

are a price worth paying for achieving social stability, the highest social virtue because it leads 

to lasting happiness. 

Fanny Crowne – Lenina Crowne's friend (they have the same last name because only ten 

thousand last names are in use in the World State). Fanny voices the conventional values of her 

caste and society, particularly the importance of promiscuity: she advises Lenina that she 

should have more than one man in her life because it is unseemly to concentrate on just one. 

Fanny then, however, warns Lenina away from a new lover whom she considers undeserving, 

yet she is ultimately supportive of the young woman's attraction to the savage John. 

Henry Foster – One of Lenina's many lovers, he is a perfectly conventional Alpha male, 

casually discussing Lenina's body with his coworkers. His success with Lenina, and his casual 

attitude about it, infuriate the jealous Bernard. Henry ultimately proves himself every bit the 

ideal World State citizen, finding no courage to defend Lenina from John's assaults despite 

having maintained an uncommonly longstanding sexual relationship with her. 

Benito Hoover – Another of Lenina's lovers. She remembers that he is particularly hairy when 

he takes his clothes off. 

The Director of Hatcheries and Conditioning (DHC), also known as Thomas "Tomakin" – He 

is the administrator of the Central London Hatchery and Conditioning Centre, where he is a 

threatening figure who intends to exile Bernard to Iceland. His plans take an unexpected turn, 

however, when Bernard returns from the Reservation with Linda (see below) and John, a child 

they both realize is actually his. This fact, scandalous and obscene in the World State not 

because it was extramarital (which all sexual acts are) but because it was procreative, leads the 

Director to resign his post in shame. 



Linda – John's mother, decanted as a Beta-Minus in the World State and subsequently lost 

during a storm while visiting the New Mexico Savage Reservation with the Director many 

years before the events of the novel. Despite following her usual precautions, Linda became 

pregnant with the Director's son during their time together and was therefore unable to return 

to the World State by the time that she found her way to Malpais. Having been conditioned to 

the promiscuous social norms of the World State, Linda finds herself at once popular with 

every man in the pueblo (because she is open to all sexual advances) and also reviled for the 

same reason, seen as a whore by the wives of the men who visit her and by the men themselves 

(who come to her nonetheless). Linda is desperate to return to the World State and to soma, 

wanting nothing more from her remaining life than comfort until death. 

The Arch-Community-Songster – The secular equivalent of the Archbishop of Canterbury in 

the World State society. 

The Warden – An Alpha-Minus, the talkative chief administrator for the New Mexico Savage 

Reservation. He is blond, short, broad-shouldered, and has a booming voice.[18] 

Darwin Bonaparte – a "big game photographer" (i.e. filmmaker) who films John flogging 

himself. Darwin Bonaparte is known for two other works: "feely of the gorillas' 

wedding",[19]and "Sperm Whale's Love-life".[19] He has already made a name for himself[20] 

but still seeks more. He renews his fame by filming the savage, John, in his newest release 

"The Savage of Surrey".[21] His name alludes to Charles Darwin and Napoleon Bonaparte.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

UNIT I 

TWO MARKS 

1. How is Charles Dickens' David Copperfield a story about growing up? 

2. How is Charles Dickens' David Copperfield a story about growing up? 

3. In Dickens' David Copperfield, what does Peggotty tell David about Yarmouth? 

4. What is a short summary of David Copperfield by Charles Dickens? 

5. What are two main instances in the life of David Copperfield? 

6. Is David Copperfield realistic fiction, fantasy, or science fiction? 

7. Compare and contrast the characters of Dora and Emily in David Copperfield. 

8. In David Copperfield, how has David's home changed when he returns from school?  

9. Why did Miss Murdstone send Peggotty away? 

10. How can I compare Mr. Wickfield and Mr. Spenlow in David Copperfield? 

11. Why do you think Steerforth tells David to think well of him in David Copperfield? 

FIVE MARKS 

1.When did David's father die? What did David's mother see outside the window and faint? 

Who was... 

1. What is the moral lesson of David Copperfield by Charles Dickens? 

2. How do I compare and contrast David’s two wives, Dora and Agnes, in David 

Copperfield? How are... 

3. What is the main theme of David Copperfield? 

4. Why is David Copperfield called an autobiographical work? 

5. Describe what David does after Barkis dies. 

TEN MARKS 

1. How did davids mother and little brother die? 



2. How would you give an outline of David Copperfield in about 150 words? 

3. How is the use of "memory" applied in the narrative technique in David Copperfield? 

4. In David Copperfield, why did Miss Trotwood come to see David at school? 

5. What are the themes and symbols in David Copperfield? 

 

 

 

UNIT II 

TWO MARKS 

1. How does Treasure Island begin? What facts do we learn in the first paragraph? 

2. What type of novel is Treasure Island by Robert Louis Stevenson? 

3. How could the man who came to the Benbow Inn be described? 

4. How many men are in the faithful party in Treasure Island? 

5. Why did Captain Billy Bones go to the Benbow Inn  

6. Why did Captain Billy Bones go to the Benbow Inn? 

7. How does Ben Gunn frighten the pirates in Treasure Island? 

8. What is a good thesis statement for the book Treasure Island by Robert Louis 

Stevenson? 

9. What is a good thesis statement for the book Treasure Island by Robert Louis 

Stevenson? 

10.What struggles does Jim Hawkins face in Treasure Island by Robert Louis Stevenson? 

FIVE MARKS 

1. How did Billy Bones terrorize everyone at the Benbow Inn? 

2. Describe the entry of the old seaman in the Admiral Benbow Inn. What did he look 

like? 

3. In Treasure Island, which of the events following Bones' death do you think is most 

exciting? 

4. What are the conflicts in treasure island. All the conflicts. 

5. Discuss the importance of place in Treasure Island, Swallows and Amazons and 

The Bunker Diary 

6. What is the minor conflict in Treasure Island? 

7. In Treasure Island what is an adventure that Jim Hawkins experiences? 



TEN MARKS 

1. What does the treasure in the novel symbolize? 

2. What is the meaning of Treasure Island? 

3. What is the summary of Robert Louis Stevenson's Treasure Island? 

4. Who is the one man Dr. Livesey is afraid of in the book Treasure Island by 

Robert Louis Stevenson? 

5. Why are there virtually no female characters in Treasure Island? 

 

 

UNIT III 

1. What is the relationship between Europe and Africa in Joseph Conrad's Heart of 

Darkness? 

2. What was the context in which Conrad's Heart of Darkness was written? 

3. In Heart of Darkness Where does the heart of darkness lie in Joseph Conrad's Heart of 

Darkness 

4. how is Kurtz a representation of Marlow? 

5. How are women viewed and what are their roles in Paradise Lost, Othello, and Heart 

of Darkness? 

6. Do you think Marlow's admiration and envy are justified in Joseph Conrad's Heart of 

Darkness? 

7. How could a layer of meaning found in Heart of Darkness be read and interpreted? 

8. Discuss dehumanisation in Heart of Darkness. Refer to Enlightenment philosophy in 

your discussion. 

9. What do the opening descriptions of Marlow compare him to, an angel, Jesus, Buddha, 

or Neptune? 

10. What do the opening descriptions of Marlow compare him to, an angel, Jesus, Buddha, 

or Neptune? 

FIVE MARKS 

1. In what way do “the women” help Marlow in Heart of Darkness by Joseph Conrad? 

2. How does Marlow change throughout the novella Heart of Darkness? 

3. What are they searching for in Heart of Darkness? How does ambiguity connect to a 

theme? 



4. Are there any connections between Joseph Conrad's life and his book Heart of 

Darkness? 

5. What role does Immortality play in Joseph Conrad's Heart of Darkness? 

6. What major decisons do the characters make and why? 

7. How does the novel highlight the futility of the European presence in AfricA 

 

 

TEN MARKS 

1. How do both Golding and Conrad display human nature? 

2. In Joseph Conrad's Heart of Darkness, is there any moral to the first section of Marlow's 

tale?   

3. Who is Marlow? Is he an illustration of the author of Heart of Darkness, Joseph Conrad? 

4. Where is the "heart of darkness" located, symbolically and actually? 

5. What are differences between Kurtz and Marlow in Conrad's Heart of Darkness? 

 

UNIT IV 

TWO MARKS 

1. How does the Lighthouse act as a symbol throughout To the Lighthouse? 

2. Discuss Modernism with reference to Virgina Woolf's novel To the 

Lighthouse.Characterize Modernism 

3. Examine the concept of time in Virgina Woolf's To The Lighthouse. What would the 

title of To the Lighthouse be if Virginia Woolf wrote this novel today? 

4.  

5. Was Virginia Woolf influenced by Freud? 

6. Why is Viginia Woolfe's To the Lighthouse considered a modern text? 

7. Why is To, by Virginia Woolf, considered a classic? 

8. Describe the relationship among some of the main characters of To the Lighthouse? 

9. What was Virginia Woolf trying to do, in a stylistic sense, in her novel "To the 

Lighthouse"? 



10. What was Virginia Woolf trying to do, in a stylistic sense, in her novel "To the 

Lighthouse"? 

 

FIVE MARKS 

1. How does the Lighthouse act as a symbol throughout To the Lighthouse? 

2. Discuss Modernism with reference to Virgina Woolf's novel To the 

Lighthouse.Characterize Modernism 

3. Examine the concept of time in Virgina Woolf's To The Lighthouse. What would the 

title of To the Lighthouse be if Virginia Woolf wrote this novel today? 

4.  

5. Was Virginia Woolf influenced by Freud? 

6. Why is Viginia Woolfe's To the Lighthouse considered a modern text? 

7. Why is To, by Virginia Woolf, considered a classic? 

8. Describe the relationship among some of the main characters of To the Lighthouse? 

9. What was Virginia Woolf trying to do, in a stylistic sense, in her novel "To the 

Lighthouse"? 

10. What was Virginia Woolf trying to do, in a stylistic sense, in her novel "To the 

Lighthouse"? 

 

TEN MARKS 

1. Was Virginia Woolf influenced by Freud? 

2. Why is Viginia Woolfe's To the Lighthouse considered a modern text? 

3. Why is To, by Virginia Woolf, considered a classic? 

4. Describe the relationship among some of the main characters of To the Lighthouse? 

5. What was Virginia Woolf trying to do, in a stylistic sense, in her novel "To the 

Lighthouse"? 

6. What was Virginia Woolf trying to do, in a stylistic sense, in her novel "To the 

Lighthouse"? 

 

 

 



UNIT V 

TWO MARKS 

1. How does hypnopaedia represent social control? 

2. How does the society in Brave New World compare to modern society? 

3. One of the twins happily asks John if Linda is dead. What does John do to the child?  

4. To whom does John call out to as his mother dies in Brave New World? 

5. What are the six steps of the Bokanovsky Process in the novel "Brave New World"?  

6.What are the six steps of the Bokanovsky Process in the novel "Brave New World"? 

7.What role does genetic engineering and conditioning play in the manipulation of 

people’s. 

8. How is Aldous Huxley's own life reflected in Brave New World? 

9. How does A Brave New World by Aldous Huxley connect to modern life 

psychologically? 

10. What is the World State's response to overpopulation in Brave New World by Aldous 

Huxley? 

What philosophical content is in The Truman Show and how can it be connected with Brave 

New World? 

FIVE MARKS 

1. What philosophical content is in The Truman Show and how can it be connected with 

Brave New World? 

2. What is the caste system in Brave New World? 

3. In Brave New World, why do the women whip Linda? 

4. What are five of the major events in the plot that happened in Brave New World? 

5. In Brave New World by Aldous Huxley is he using the savage reservation to mock 

religion? 

6. Why does Bernard regret having sex with Lenina ? 

7. Are men and women equal in the novel Brave New World? 

TEN MARKS 

1. In Brave New World by Aldous Huxley, how did the riot squad calm the crowd? 



2. Why is it necessary for the masses to use transportation and consume other products?  

3. What is ironic about John's proclamation that he is going to a "brave new world" in 

Brave New World? 

4. What is the connection between Mustapha Mond and Huxley? 

5. Why are there only old people in the World State? 

 

 

                                  UNIVERSITY QUESTION 

TWO MARKS 

1. How does David’s step-father behave to David? 

2. Who is Long Silver? 

3. By whom a cook was hired? 

4. Who gives heebie-jeebies? 

5. To whom does Marlowe lie at the end and why? 

6. Why did David go out of the factory? 

7. Who attempt to paint Mrs.Ramsays portrait in the novel “to the Light House”? 

8. Why did Mrs.Ramsay die? 

9. Who is Darwin Bonopaste? 

10. What is the relationship between Linda and John? 

FIVE MARKS 

      11.a). Describe the school life of David. 

 b).Give a brief character sketch of David Copperfield. 

     12.a). What are the risk taken by Bones and Jim to take the treasure? 

           b). How does Dr.Livsey care the pirates? 

     13.a) Why did Marlowe go to Africa? 

           b) Analyse the character of Kurtz as a leader? 

   14.a). Give a brief character sketch of Mrs.Ramsay. 

         b) Who visits the Light House at last? 

15.a) Who reads the complete works of William Shakespeare why? 



      b) What are the messages given by Mustapha Mond? 

TEN MARKS 

16.How does David Copperfield face the life, after the death of Dora? 

17.How many of them went to search the treasure in “Treasure Island” 

18.What is the relationship between Kurtz and Marlowe? 

19.What happens in the dinner in the novel “To The Light Hose” 

20.Justify the title “Brave New World”. 

   


